# CLIMATE CHANGE AND THE AGRICULTURAL SECTOR IN THE SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA

Changes in Viticulture and Rangeland Forage Production Due to Altered Temperature and Precipitation Patterns

A White Paper from the California Energy Commission's California Climate Change Center

Prepared for:California Energy CommissionPrepared by:University of California, Berkeley

JULY 2012 CEC-500-2012-033 Rebecca Chaplin-Kramer University of California, Berkeley





#### DISCLAIMER

This paper was prepared as the result of work sponsored by the California Energy Commission. It does not necessarily represent the views of the Energy Commission, its employees or the State of California. The Energy Commission, the State of California, its employees, contractors and subcontractors make no warrant, express or implied, and assume no legal liability for the information in this paper; nor does any party represent that the uses of this information will not infringe upon privately owned rights. This paper has not been approved or disapproved by the California Energy Commission nor has the California Energy Commission passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of the information in this paper.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study could not have been undertaken without the expert guidance of Mel George for the rangeland production model and Kim Nicholas for the wine models. Thanks also to Dustin Flavel, who collected the data at the University of California Sierra Foothill Research and Extension Center used to train the model for forage growing season, and David Lobell, who generously provided access to his data and code for the model on which this wine yield model is based. Brian Galey at the Geospatial Innovation Facility at the University of California Berkeley, provided much-needed technical assistance, and Mary Tyree at Scripps was extremely helpful in formatting the climate data generated by the Cayan lab. Mel George, Kim Nicholas, Sheila Barry, and two anonymous reviewers greatly improved the manuscript with their insightful comments. Finally, special thanks go to Julia Ekstrom, Michael Hanemann, and Guido Franco for all their encouragement and support.

### ABSTRACT

Climate change has the potential to alter the San Francisco Bay Area's agricultural production, a \$2 billion industry. Two of the top sectors, wine and ranching, are examined in this paper. Downscaled models suggest that forage production in Bay Area rangelands may be enhanced by future conditions in most years, at least in terms of peak standing crop. However, the timing of production is as important as its peak, and altered precipitation patterns could mean delayed germination and earlier senescence, resulting in shorter growing seasons. An increase in the frequency of extremely dry years also increases the uncertainty of forage availability. Similarly, wine grape yields are projected to increase throughout much of the Bay Area, but wine grape quality may decline substantially under future climate conditions, as the crop ripens earlier during hotter months. The implications for these shifts in wine grape and forage production are that the aspects of Bay Area agriculture most sensitive to climate change are not yields, but subtler nuances of production such as quality and timing. Adaptive measures will need to be taken to maintain the economic viability of these enterprises.

Keywords: viticulture, rangeland, forage production, agriculture, climate change, Bay Area

Please use the following citation for this paper:

Rebecca Chaplin-Kramer (University of California, Berkeley). 2012. *Climate Change and the Agricultural Sector in the San Francisco Bay Area: Changes in Viticulture and Rangeland Forage Production Due to Altered Temperature and Precipitation Patterns.* California Energy Commission. Publication number: CEC-500-2012-033.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	i
ABSTRACT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	iv
LIST OF TABLES	v
Section 1: Introduction	1
<ul> <li>Section 2: Literature Review</li></ul>	5 5 7 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
Section 3: Bay Area Analysis	12 13 13 
Section 4: Conclusions	
References	
Glossary	43
Appendix A	
Appendix B	46
Appendix C	48
Appendix D	50

Appendix E	
Appendix F	54

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Historical (1961–1990) and Projected (2070–2099) Average Temperatures for Summer (June, July, August) and Winter (January, February) Months in the Bay Area. Temperatures reflect means of four downscaled global climate models (CNRM CM3, GFDL CM2.1, NCAR CCSM3.0, and NCAR PCM1)
Figure 2. Change in Peak Forage Production by Late-century (2070–2099), Relative to Historical Conditions (1961–1990), Shown for Current Rangeland Habitats (Grassland, Savannah, and Shrubland) in the Bay Area
Figure 3. Seasonal Growth Curves for Forage Production in Different Regions Under Historical (1961–1990) and Future (2070–2099) Climate Conditions. Multiple lines of the same color represent different 12 x 12 km grid cells in the region. Only cells containing rangeland habitat were used (see Figure 2)
Figure 4. Change in Forage Production from Historical (1961–1990) to Future (2070–2099) Climate Scenarios. As in Figure 3, multiple lines of the same color represent different grid cells of rangeland in that area
Figure 5a, b. Total Number of Skipped Forage Seasons in a 30-year Period for Historical (1961– 1990 and Future (2070–2099) Conditions, Projected for (a) CNRM and GFDL Models and (b) the NCAR CCSM and PCM Models. The forage season is considered "skipped" if precipitation required for germination (>25 mm over a one-week period) never occurs in a given year
Figure 5c. Change in the Number of Skipped Forage Seasons in the Future (2070–2099), Compared to Historical (1961–1990) Conditions for Current Rangeland Habitats in the Bay Area. The forage season is considered "skipped" if precipitation required for germination (>25 mm over a one-week period) never occurs in a given year
Figure 6. Change in Rangeland Season Length by End-century (2070–2099), Relative to Historical Conditions (1961–1990) for Current Rangeland Habitats in the Bay Area
Figure 7. Change in Wine Yields Due to Climate (base trend removed) by End-century (2070-2099), Relative to Historical Conditions (1961–1990). Brighter colors (corresponding to legend) show current agricultural acreage in the Bay Area; lighter colors show change in conditions for wine grape growing in areas not currently farmed
Figure 8. Historical (1961–1990) and Future (2070–2099) Ripening Month Conditions for Wine Grape Growing, Under Two Climate Scenarios (B1 and A2). Average temperatures during ripening month determine whether climate is optimal (15°C–22°C), marginal (22°C–24 °C), or impaired (>24 °C) for producing high-quality wines. Brighter colors (corresponding to legend) show current agricultural acreage in the Bay Area; lighter colors show change in conditions for wine grape growing in areas not currently farmed

Table A-1. Percent change in peak forage production for 30-year periods (early/historical, mid/historical, and late/historical) in the higher emissions A2 scenario. Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means.44

Table A-2. Percent change in peak forage production,	as in Table A-1, for the lower emissions B1
scenario	

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Value and Acreage of the Top 10 Crops in the San Francisco Bay Area Region1
Table 2. Value and Acreage of Wine Grapes and Animal Products/Pasture
Table 3. Relationship between Forage Production and ADD, Reproduced from George et al.(1988)
Table B-1. Maximum drought occurrence over a 30-year period in any of the 12x12 km grid cells within each county, for the higher emissions A2 scenario. Drought here is defined in the extreme sense of a season in which germination never occurs (1-week precipitation never exceeds 25 mm). Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence intervals around the mean of the maximum drought occurrence for all four models. For clarity, "max" is the model producing the highest maximum drought occurrence and "min" is the model producing the lowest maximum drought occurrence
Table B-2. Maximum drought occurrence, as in Table B-1, for the lower emissions B1 scenario.47
Table C-1. Mean length of forage season (days) for 30-year periods in the higher emissions A2 scenario. Season start date is based on germinating rain (first week in which precipitation > 25mm), and season end date is based on a simple water balance model (when cumulative evapotranspiration > cumulative precipitation over a 60 day period). Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means
Table C-2. Length of forage season, as in Table C-2, for the lower emissions B1 scenario
Table D-1. Percent change in wine yields over 30-year periods for the A2 scenario. Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means
Table D-2. Percent change in wine yields, as in Table D-1, for the B1 scenario

Table E-1. Change in date of wine ripening (days earlier) for the A2 scenario. Date of ripening set by accumulation of 1150 degree days after April 1. Max, min and mean are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means	; is . 52
Table E-2. Change in date of wine ripening, as in Table E-1, for the B1 scenario	.53
Table F-1. Average temperature during the month of wine ripening, which dictates wine grap quality, for the A2 scenario. Conditions for producing high quality wines are considered optimal when in the range of 15°C–22°C, marginal in the range of 22°C–24°C, and impaired above 24°C. Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95%	ю
confidence interval around the means	.54
Table F-2. Average temperature during wine ripening, as an indicator of wine quality as defir in Table F-1, for the lower emissions B1 scenario	1ed .55

Unless otherwise noted, all tables and figures are provided by the author.

### **Section 1: Introduction**

The San Francisco Bay Area (Bay Area) comprises \$2 billion of California's \$36 billion/year agricultural industry (NASS 2008). Wine grapes are the most valuable crop in the Bay Area, accounting for nearly half of the value of agriculture in this region, at \$917 million. Animal products (including beef and other meats, as well as dairy) make up the second most valuable sector of Bay Area agriculture, worth \$316 million (Table 1). Furthermore, when considering agricultural area rather than economic value, pasture ranks far ahead of the rest, taking up over 80 percent of the 1.6 million acres of total agricultural land in the Bay Area. Rangeland habitats (grassland, shrubland, and savannah) that could be used for grazing occupy much of the rest of the Bay Area's open space. Wine grapes, meanwhile, account for nearly half of the remaining (240,000 acres of non-pasture) agricultural area (Table 2). Therefore, the effects of climate change on wine grape and rangeland forage production deserve special attention, as these two industries play such a major role in Bay Area agriculture.

Commodity	Value	Acres
Grapes*	\$917,261,900	106,924
Animal Products	\$315,935,960	N/A
Nursery Products	\$323,823,700	N/A
Mushrooms	\$65,797,000	158
Vegetables	\$58,122,800	5,836
Нау	\$40,802,300	67,784
Flowers	\$35,639,900	N/A
Tomatoes	\$28,963,200	11,220
Pasture	\$25,025,200	1,290,179
Walnuts	\$23,852,700	8,352

#### Table 1. Value and Acreage of the Top 10 Crops in the San Francisco Bay Area Region

\*All counties produce exclusively wine grapes, except for Contra Costa County, which is listed as "undetermined," and likely includes a significant amount of table grapes. See also Table 2, below.

Source: NASS 2008

County	Wine/Grapes			Animal Products				
	Value	% (Non-pasture) Acreage Ag. Acreage		% (Non-past Value Acreage Ag. Acrea		Value (Animals + Pasture)	Acreage (pasture/range)	% Total Ag. Acreage
Alameda	\$6,455,000	1,916	30.5	\$10,752,000	189,000	96.8		
Contra Costa	\$6,140,000	1,910	7.2	\$16,561,960	175,790	86.8		
Marin	\$755,700	192	5.8	\$62,760,700	154,810	97.9		
Napa	\$472,606,600	42,338	98.8	\$4,349,700	(not reported)			
San Mateo	\$550,000	98	3.0	\$1,611,000	30,300	90.3		
Santa Clara	\$6,110,000	1,550	7.9	\$10,439,500	181,625	90.2		
Solano	\$8,095,000	4,021	3.0	\$59,188,900	202,826	60.1		
Sonoma	\$416,549,600	54,899	82.0	\$175,297,400	355,828	84.2		
Total	\$917,261,900	106,924	45.3	\$340,961,160	1,290,179	80.9		

Table 2. Value and Acreage of Wine Grapes and Animal Products/Pasture

Source: NASS 2008

For California as a whole, temperatures over the next century have been projected to rise between 1.7°C and 3.0°C (3.0°F to 5.5°F) for a lower emissions scenario, and 4.4°C to 5.8°C (7.9°F to 10.4°F) for a higher emissions scenario (Cayan et al. 2006). Downscaled data for the Bay Area show a lower rise in temperatures, from between 1.5°C and 3.0°C (2.7°F to 5.5°F) by 2100 for lower emissions and 2.5°C to 4.4°C (4.5°F to 7.9°F) for higher emissions, though considerable variation exists within the region (Figure 1).

Warming trends are also not spread evenly over the season or even the day; due to warming over the north Pacific, the greatest warming in coastal California occurs in the spring and at night (Nemani et al. 2001). In fact, some evidence suggests that summer maximum temperatures are declining in coastal California, due to a "sea-breeze" effect driven by warming of interior areas (Lebassi et al. 2009). However, other analysis indicates that fog frequency on the coast is declining, which would ultimately lead to low-level warming in coastal regions (Johnstone and Dawson 2010). In either case, overall average temperatures may not adequately capture the true nature of warming for the Bay Area, and may in fact dramatically underestimate climate change impacts (White et al. 2006).



Source: Cayan et al.

Figure 1. Historical (1961–1990) and Projected (2070–2099) Average Temperatures for Summer (June, July, August) and Winter (January, February) Months in the Bay Area. Temperatures reflect means of four downscaled global climate models (CNRM CM3, GFDL CM2.1, NCAR CCSM3.0, and NCAR PCM1).

Understanding Bay Area agriculture's vulnerability to future climate conditions requires first identifying the vineyard and grazing regions most exposed to climate threats and the aspects of wine grape and rangeland forage production most sensitive to those threats. This paper therefore consists of two parts: (1) a review of the literature relevant to wine and rangelands, to identify the sensitive aspects of production, with a focus on the Bay Area where such research exists; and (2) models for the effect of climatic change on wine and forage production, utilizing established relationships between these variables of interest and climate variables to identify the region's most exposed to climate threats. This project will lay the foundation for further efforts toward a full vulnerability assessment of this system, which may include exploring the adaptive capacity of different agricultural operations and determining how management decisions can help mitigate the impacts of climate change on our agricultural systems.

## **Section 2: Literature Review**

### 2.1 Effects of Climate Change on Range Livestock Production

Very little research has investigated the effects of climate change on animal production in California. One of the only such studies, Hayhoe et al. (2004), found that rising temperatures could reduce milk production by as much as 7 to 10 percent (for the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's lower-emissions B1 scenario) and 11 to 22 percent (for the A1fi scenario) by the end of the century for the top 10 dairy counties in the state. Sonoma and Marin Counties rank eleventh and fourteenth, respectively, in milk production, well below leading counties in the San Joaquin valley (NASS 2008). However, as these Bay Area counties are projected to remain cooler than many of the top dairy counties (for example, Fresno, San Joaquin and San Bernardino Counties), they may not experience the declines predicted by Hayhoe et al. (2004).

While research on the effects of climate change on animal production should ultimately address the change in yields of the end-products (meat and milk), animal production systems are complex and different aspects may respond to climate in different ways. Preliminary steps must therefore be taken to understand the effects of climate change on the components of animal production systems—the animal feed or forage and the animals themselves. Forage quantity and quality are concerns that can be addressed through the study of climate effects on plant physiology and ecology. Heat stress and pests or disease dynamics are additional concerns that should be taken into account at the individual animal level.

Climate change has the potential to impact all realms of animal production systems, including rangeland and irrigated pasture, as well as feed crops like hay, corn, and silage. However, it is rangeland (which, unlike pasture, is not irrigated) that accounts for the majority of agricultural land-use in the Bay Area, and though both dairy and beef production in the Bay Area rely on supplemental feed during certain times of year, such feed often comes from well outside the Bay Area. As this review is limited in scope to the Bay Area, discussion of climate change effects in this review will therefore focus on range livestock production. Most rangeland in the Bay Area is grazed by beef cattle, with the exception of Marin and Sonoma Counties, where over half of animal production is dairy cattle that do utilize pasture and rangeland (NASS 2008; Agboh-Noameshie and Al-Ajjawi 2004).

#### 2.1.1 Forage Quantity

The full extent of climate change impacts on rangeland forage production in California and the Bay Area in particular is uncertain. Shaw et al. (2009) modeled the impact of forecasted changes in precipitation patterns on California rangeland production, concluding that areas of the state suitable for cattle grazing would shift, as some become wetter and others become drier, depending on the climate model. In terms of both forage production and precipitation, the PCM showed an increase for Northern California and a decrease for the Central Coast and Sierra Foothills; the GFDL showed large declines throughout the state, with only modest increases in parts of the North Coast and higher elevations in the Sierras. At a statewide level, Shaw et al. predicted that forage production would decline between 14 and 58 percent, corresponding to a reduction in annual profits from cattle ranching of between \$22 million and \$92 million by 2070.

Despite this statewide trend, the results of Shaw et al. (2009), for the Bay Area in particular, suggested that the impacts would be more positive, with forage production increases projected for Santa Clara, Alameda, Contra Costa, Solano, and Napa Counties (Marin and Sonoma Counties were not included in the model). However, the authors acknowledged that their model may overestimate the effects of precipitation, since it did not incorporate warming. This study also assumed a close relationship between annual precipitation and forage production. While that is often true, near average production can occur in low rainfall years if precipitation is well distributed, and low annual production can occur in wet years if precipitation is poorly distributed or if temperatures are below normal, as is often associated with wet weather (George et al. 2010).

Better forecasts of rangeland production would include both precipitation and temperature in the same model. Field data at several sites in Northern California show forage yield and resulting cattle weight gain were both highly positively correlated with temperature (George et al. 1988). Temperature is the main constraint in California grassland productivity during the winter, and strong relationships have been found between biomass production and accumulated degree-days (George et al. 1988). Warming also has the potential to alter precipitation patterns (Backlund et al. 2008), and has been shown to increase soil water content by accelerating plant senescence (Zavaleta et al. 2003b). In fact, grassland ecophysiology may be less responsive to changes in total quantity of rainfall than shifts in seasonal patterns of rainfall (Chou et al. 2008). Early-season precipitation alone explained 49 percent of the variability in shoot-growth at the Hopland field station, just North of the Bay Area (Murphy 1970), although additional data reduced this explanatory power to 34 percent (George et al. 1989). Late-season precipitation also has a pronounced impact on Bay Area and North Coast grassland production, shown by increased shoot growth resulting from experimental water additions in the late spring (Suttle et al. 2007; Zavaleta 2003a). The combined effects of the timing and amount of precipitation and seasonal temperature patterns will influence growing season length, plant phenology, and productivity in rangelands (George et al. 2001a).

No models incorporating the impact of warming on California rangeland production yet exist. Hanson et al. (1993) predicted increases in spring plant production and an extension of the growing season with climate change in the Great Plains. However, these authors warned that increases in variance may be more important than the mean effect, because of the effect of unpredictability on grazing management. Uncertainty regarding plant growth results in uncertainty in stocking decisions. Hanson et al. (1993) found that changes in variance typical of their simulations suggested that carrying capacities would need to be shifted from about 6.5 to 9.0 hectare (ha) per animal to maintain a 90 percent confidence of not overstocking. They also pointed out that more intense management would increase operating costs, and therefore may cancel out any benefits in forage production.

In contrast to the Great Plains, where the growing season begins in the spring months following winter dormancy, Bay Area rangeland growing season begins with the first fall rains and ends with soil moisture depletion in the spring months. Climate change in the Bay Area may be more comparable to that found in the similarly Mediterranean climate of southern Australia. For this region, Howden et al. (2008) projected lower pasture production as a result of lower

precipitation and higher temperatures. Incorporating the effects of warming into models on rangeland production in California, and the Bay Area in particular, is an important step in understanding how climate change will affect range livestock production in this region, and is the focus of the forage production model developed in Section 2.

#### 2.1.2 Forage Quality

Models for the effects of climate change on forage quality in California also do not yet exist. For ecoregions with a continental climate, Craine et al. (2010) showed that two measures of forage quality—crude protein (CP) and digestible organic matter (DOM)—declined with increasing temperature and increased with increasing precipitation, both reaching maximums in April through June. However, these forage quality patterns did not hold for California and Southwest ecoregions. They found higher than expected CP for California, and that CP actually increased with temperature in this region.

This difference is likely due to the precipitation patterns in Mediterranean climates like California being reversed from that of the rest of the nation; the growing season begins with the onset of rains in the fall rather than the spring in this region. As a result, flowering occurs earlier in California than in the Midwest and Eastern United States, and flowering is usually when CP and DOM start to decline (George and Bell 2001). Indeed, the timing of maximum CP levels was also dramatically different for California, occurring up to 60 days earlier in California than the nationwide mean (Craine et al. 2010). This suggests that methods used to describe the seasonal course of CP and DOM through the year for their broader model may not appropriately characterize conditions in California. Warming may not reduce CP at its peak in California, since this peak occurs in the winter or early spring, but shifts in precipitation patterns could change the timing or duration of the availability of high-quality forage in Bay Area rangelands. Forage quality is generally adequate throughout the late fall to early spring growing season, but by summer the herbage remaining on the range is of such little nutritional value that supplementation of livestock feed is common practice (Van Dyne and Heady 1965). This "forage season," the time during which forage is of high enough quality to meet livestock nutritional needs, could shift or shrink, according to precipitation patterns. To explore the effects of climate change on forage quality, the length of the high-quality forage season is modeled using projected precipitation under future climate scenarios, as described in Section 2.

Subtler effects of climate change on forage quality will likely be mediated at the community and plant levels. Finer-scale models created specifically for California's unique rangeland phenology are needed to better understand the influence of global change on forage quality in Bay Area rangelands. Unlike most rangelands in the world, California's Mediterranean-type rangelands (including those in the Bay Area) are dominated by annual grasses and forbs. Thus, species composition can change seasonally and annually in response to the timing and amount of precipitation and changes in temperature (Young and Evans 1989). Climate change could alter the competitive environment by changing the timing and rates of germination and subsequent vegetative and reproductive development, and these potentially rapid shifts in species composition will influence rangeland forage quality. For example, if forbs increase in abundance relative to grasses, as has been shown to be the case with increasing temperature and precipitation in one experimental California grassland (Zavaleta et al. 2003a), composite CP

and DOM can be expected to increase (George et al. 2001b). Later or wetter springs could facilitate woody invasion by trees and shrubs (Dukes and Shaw 2007), reducing both forage quality and quantity. Longer midwinter droughts could paradoxically extend the availability of high-quality forage, since these dry periods during the growing season favor perennials over annuals, and perennials remain green longer, thanks to their more extensive root systems (Corbin et al. 2007).

The elevated level of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) in our atmosphere has additional implications for forage nutrition, irrespective of climate change. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2007) assessment reviewed these impacts, concluding that nutritional content of forage will decline with increases in CO<sub>2</sub>, both because of higher carbon-to-nitrogen ratios in the plants themselves and an increase in dominance of unpalatable grassland species. In the context of California grasslands specifically, Dukes et al. (2011) found that under elevated CO<sub>2</sub> conditions (an additional 300 parts per million [ppm] of CO<sub>2</sub>) the invasive and noxious yellow starthistle (*Centaurea solstitaialis*) grows more than six times larger than under ambient conditions, far outcompeting surrounding grasses and forbs. Yellow starthistle is a thirsty weed, and its heavy demand for soil moisture means both that it drives down water availability for other species and that it benefits disproportionately from late rains (Dukes and Shaw 2007). Management of yellow starthistle is already difficult, and it appears that global change will further tip the scales in its favor. If the prevalence of this noxious weed in California grasslands were dramatically increased under future conditions, as the Dukes et al. (2011) suggest, forage quality would be greatly reduced.

These are also other mechanisms by which forage quality could either increase or decrease with global change. Nitrogen deposition and altered fire regimes could further impact species mixes beyond the effects of CO<sub>2</sub>, temperature, and precipitation. Many of these factors could interact or feedback on each other, making it difficult to use historical data to forecast future trends. Therefore, models to forecast nutritional quality of rangelands may need to draw on mechanistic relationships established in experimental settings (e.g., Zavaleta et al. 2003a; Dukes et al. 2011).

#### 2.1.3 Animal Productivity

Animal performance is influenced by the thermal environment, primarily through the net effects of energy exchange between animals and surroundings (Hahn 1985). The National Research Council on Beef Production gauges the average thermal neutral zone for beef cattle to be between 15°C–25°C (59°F to 77°F) (Buchanan-Smith et al. 1996). When temperatures exceed this thermal neutral zone, animals suffer heat stress, which can result in dramatic declines in milk production and animal weight gain (Klinedinst et al. 1993; Wolfe et al. 2008; Mader et al. 2009). Most heat stress studies have been on beef and dairy cattle in feedlots, but much of what has been learned in these studies applies to range livestock as well.

Heat stress may play less of a role in grazing systems than in confined animal feeding operations, since the natural air circulation experienced by free-roaming animals prevents temperatures reaching as extreme levels as found in confined operations. However, temperature has still been shown to influence grazing animal behavior. Animals graze less when temperatures exceed the thermal neutral zone, and stop grazing entirely at temperatures above 37°C (99°F); warmer temperatures cause cattle to seek sheltered rest locations during the middle of the day (Harris 2001). Grazing cattle water intake also increases with warmer weather, and if an animal cannot cope with a hot environment (above the thermal neutral zone), daily feed intake will decline to reduce metabolic heat (Hahn 1985). In fact, De Dios and Hahn (1993) showed that a three-day heat wave can decrease feed intake by more than 60 percent. Voluntary feed intake is the main driver of production capacity of livestock; weight gain (and therefore time to slaughter) and/or milk output is directly dependent on the animal's consumption of feed beyond that which is needed to sustain it. Therefore, increasing temperatures, especially in warmer interior regions, could reduce animal performance in rangeland systems, though presumably to a lesser extent than in confined operations.

#### 2.1.4 Pests and Disease

Climate change may also affect pest and disease dynamics in animal production systems, though very little research exists in this field, and none in the context of California. In general, it is thought that endemic livestock pathogens (for example, anthrax, liver fluke, and fecal-oral pathogens) will increase with increased flooding, especially after longer dry periods, while exotic livestock diseases will undergo range extensions and/or more easily locate invertebrate vectors through longer seasons and warmer winters under climate change conditions (Gale et al. 2009). For Great Britain, van Dijk et al. (2010) documented increases in infection rates, longer transmission seasons, and range extensions in several species of helminth (roundworms and flatworms) parasites, coinciding with increases in temperature. However, they maintained that it is still unclear which aspects of temperature (minimum, maximum, mean, or variability) best describe the effects on parasites, and as such, quantifying the effects of climate change on parasites will remain a challenge until more data are gathered.

### 2.2 Effects of Climate Change on Wine Grapes

Climate change can impact wine grapes through effects on both quantity (yields) and quality, and both aspects have been examined carefully in the literature. There are also expected to be repercussions to pest and disease dynamics in wine grapes in an altered climate, and though many studies have recognized this potential, few have truly integrated it into their assessments. On the whole, wine grape quality appears to be more sensitive to climate change than yields, and greater problems with pests and disease can be expected under future climate conditions.

#### 2.2.1 Yield

Historical climate and yield records show that up until now, warming has mainly benefited wine grapes. Wine grape yields increased from 34 percent in Napa and Sonoma Counties between 1963 and 1996, despite a warming of 1.13°C (2.03°F) over that period (Nemani et al. 2001). Though this is presumably due at least in part to technical progress, Nemani et al. argue that increases in spring minimum temperatures and decreases in summer vapor pressure deficits account for 56 percent of the upward trend in yields. These specific climate variables drive yield increases to a much greater extent than average temperature increases. Other statistical models provide further support to the hypothesis that grape yields increase with spring nighttime temperatures in April (Lobell et al. 2007). In particular, large yield increases

were seen with warming above the coldest April temperatures because warmer minimum temperatures mean decreased risk of frost damage during the most vulnerable growing period when frosts can damage the rapidly developing berry clusters and therefore seriously reduce yields.

Despite these trends, unmitigated growth should not be expected for wine grape yields in the Bay Area under climate change conditions. California is already within 1°C (1.8°F) of the optimum April nighttime temperature for wine grape yields; temperatures reaching above this are expected to lead to leveling off and then declining yields (Lobell et al. 2007). Updated yield models using county-level climate data were less reliable than models using state-level data (Lobell and Field 2009), leading to the conclusion that statewide average yields would not be dramatically affected by warming. Furthermore, an even greater concern than overall yields may be that the areas most suited to wine grape production are forecast to shift with climate change.

Lobell et al. (2006) showed that the areas capable of supporting high-yielding wine grape production in California would actually increase with a 2°C (3.6°F) increase in average temperature, which is on the lower end of the expected warming for most Bay Area counties (Figure 1). However, in that scenario, the most suitable counties for growing wine grapes would shift westward along the coast, overlapping with 77 percent of counties currently in production. With a 4°C (7.2°F) average temperature increase, only 33 percent of currently planted vineyards are in regions that would become most suitable to favorable wine grape yields. Warming of this magnitude could create substantial changes from current planting styles and areas. This model is applied in Section 2 with downscaled climate data for the Bay Area to further probe these trends at a finer scale.

#### 2.2.2 Quality

Several climate-related factors are generally associated with high-quality wines: first, mild winters with a low risk of frost damage; second, warm springs that lead to early and even budburst and flowering; and third; low summer temperature variability that allows for optimal maturation (Gladstones 1992). Wine quality ratings on a 0–100 scale increased by 7.5 points in California between 1963 and 1996 (Nemani et al. 2001). While this analysis did not control for non-climate factors that may have changed during this time period, such as grade inflation in scoring, Nemani et al. (2001) found the decline in frosts during winter months accounted for 41 percent of the variation in wine ratings.

As previously noted for wine grape yields, the bulk of the benefit from warming in reducing frost damage has already been accrued. Future warming is expected to result in less-favorable conditions for producing high-quality wines. Models based on growing degree-days (GDD) suggest that average ripening will occur up to 1–2 months earlier in California, and at higher temperatures (Hayhoe et al. 2004). Regions with lower GDD (in the range of 1,000–1,500) generally produce the best dry table wines with light to medium body and good balance (White et al. 2006). Higher GDD and earlier ripening under climate change conditions is expected to lead to degraded quality for all but the cool coastal wine-producing regions of California (Hayhoe et al. 2004). This model is further refined in Section 2 with downscaled climate data to

map out the conditions capable of producing the highest-quality wine in the Bay Area and where and when those conditions will shift.

#### 2.2.3 Pest/Disease

Climate change has serious implications for the spread of agriculturally important diseases. Humidity levels in Napa and Sonoma Counties are currently considered optimal for wine production (Gladstones 1992), but projected climate changes will shift premium wine grape production to high humidity/precipitation regions (White et al. 2006). High humidity is associated with higher risk of many disease-related factors that can reduce wine grape quality, such as rot (Pardo et al. 2005) and powdery mildew (Carroll and Wilcox 2003), while increased precipitation increases fungal dispersal through the impact of raindrops on leaves (Willocquet et al. 1998).

Increasing temperatures may also increase pest problems, including vector-borne disease and pest outbreaks. Pierce's disease, caused by the bacterium *Xylella fastidiosa* and transmitted by various species of sharpshooter (*Cicadellidae* family), is limited in its distribution by frost. Cool temperatures (in the range of 7.8°C–13.2°C, or 46.0°F–55.8°F) cause early mortality in the insect vectors of Pierce's disease (Son et al. 2009), and transmission of the disease increases with temperature (Daugherty et al. 2009). Warming throughout the year may therefore accelerate the spread of Pierce's disease, though this effect has not yet been modeled. Occurrence of Pierce's disease has been increasing in Napa and Sonoma Counties, as frost events decline with winter warming (Nemani et al. 2001). Physiologically based demographic models suggest an increase of 3°C (5.4°F) in average daily temperatures would enable the vectors to spread into Napa and Sonoma at the rate currently experienced in Southern California (Gutierrez et al. 2011).

Another important economic pest of wine grapes, the vine mealy bug *Planococcus ficus*, is also thought to be favored under climate change conditions, especially in comparison to its natural enemies. With increases of 2°C and 3°C (3.6°F and 5.4°F) in average daily temperatures, the areas favorable for mealy bug development are projected to shift increasingly northward, meaning more pest pressure in the Bay Area region (Gutierrez et al. 2008). Increasing temperature is also expected to increase the prevalence of the downy mildew *Plasmopara viticola*, making fungicide treatments or other management of this pathogen a greater concern under future climate conditions (Salinari et al. 2006).

The available evidence suggests that the remaining high-yield and high-quality wine-producing areas in the Bay Area will require more attention to disease and pest control. Climate change may therefore require increased investment in pest management and/or disease-resistant rootstock. Research is still needed to quantify potential climate impacts on grape pests and disease.

## **Section 3: Bay Area Analysis**

### 3.1 Methods

#### 3.1.1 Climate Models

Climate data were acquired from Cayan et al. (2012), downscaled from global climate models using a Bias Corrected Constructed Analogues (BCCA) technique to produce two climate scenarios: the lower-emissions B1 scenario and the higher-emissions A2 scenario. Four climate models output the daily temperature and precipitation projections required by the rangeland and wine production models: Centre National Recherche Météorologique (CNRM) CM3, Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory (GFDL) CM2.1, National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) CCSM3.0, and NCAR PCM1. The wine and rangeland production models were run for all eight model/scenario combinations for each of the 244 12 x 12 kilometer (km) grid cells that comprise the Bay Area region.

#### 3.1.2 Forage Production

Strong relationships have been documented between forage production and accumulated degree-days during the growing season (George et al. 1988), accounting for 75 to 95 percent of the variation in the data. Based on field data and expert experience, the forage production season begins after the first week in which precipitation exceeds 25 millimeters (mm) (George et al. 1988). This is known as the "germinating rain." The end of the growing season was not forecast in the George et al. (1988) research, but rather was based on field calculations that measured biomass until annual grasses were between the soft and hard dough stage of seed maturity. Expert opinion suggests that a simple water balance model could approximate the end of the season, since plants will begin to senesce when water loss exceeds water gain (George, personal communication). Some work has indicated that phenology may be relatively fixed in annuals, with late watering treatments only delaying senescence by a week (Jackson and Roy 1986). However, field data obtained from the University of California Sierra Foothill Research and Extension Center that recorded the date of peak standing crop (forage) showed that this peak forage date does vary from year to year, by up to a month. Therefore, a model to simulate the season-end was trained on this data set, along with California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) weather data for precipitation and evapotranspiration. Calculating the point at which cumulative evapotranspiration exceeded cumulative precipitation over a moving window of 60 days best predicted peak forage date. Including other pathways for water loss (notably run-off or drainage) may provide a more realistic model for estimating peak forage date, but in absence of such data, this simple model generally came within two weeks of actual peak forage date.

While forage, defined as the standing herbage used in grazing, is available year-round in California, the dead material consumed outside of the forage growing season is much lower in quality and cannot meet nutritional needs without supplement (as noted in Section 1). There are some annual forbs that bloom in summer, but these species do not make up a substantial proportion of grassland production (Chiariello 1989). Therefore the growing season during which high-quality forage is produced (hereafter "forage season") will be considered as an

important component of forage production (determining availability, described below). Degreedays were calculated for each day throughout the forage season via a sine function using minimum and maximum daily temperatures above a base temperature of 5°C (41°F) (according to Logan and Boyland 1983). Accumulated degree-days (ADD) were taken at monthly timesteps, beginning with germination, and the final timestep, including all degree-days past the end of May if the forage season went beyond that (which it rarely did). Accumulated degree-days was then used to calculate forage production with the regression equations in Table 3, reproduced from George et al. (1988).

Sample Area	Forage production ~ ADD	$R^2$
1	y = 120 + 5.2x	0.95
2	y = 14 + 4.4x	0.91
3	y = -90 + 3.8x	0.85
4	y = -141 + 3.1x	0.82
5	y = -54 + 3.9x	0.77
6	y = -280 + 4.9x	0.88
7	y = 77 + 2.2x	0.74
8	y = 138 + 2.8x	0.76
9	y = 96 + 4.1x	0.91
10	y = 82 + 2.7x	0.74

Table 3. Relationship between Forage Production and ADD	, Reproduced from George et al. (1988	3)
---	---------------------------------------	----

Absolute forage production obviously varies depending on the chosen equation, but as the relationship is linear, relative measures such as the change in forage production over time were very consistent, differing by only 2 to 3 percent. For this reason, future values for peak forage production are presented in terms of change from historic values.

Growth curves were constructed using the forage production estimates from each timestep, and again it is the relative measures, such as the shape of the curves and the differences between them, that are worth examining, rather than the absolute numbers. These growth curves help to determine which parts of the season have the greatest differences between historical and future scenarios, and thus hint at the mechanisms behind the difference. Differences in the first time step may indicate that germination date is an important factor. Steeper slopes throughout the middle of the curve would point to the role played by warmer winter and/or spring temperatures. Differences in the slope leading up to the final time step could be at least partially explained by differences in season end date and the length of time for degree days to accumulate in that final period.

Two additional considerations in the effects of climate on forage production are reliability and availability. Forage availability is measured by the length of the "forage season," from germination to senescence; the period over which livestock can be productively grazing the land because high-quality forage is available. A close inspection of how season length varied over time revealed that in certain years for certain grid cells, the growing season never

occurred. In those years for those areas, precipitation never exceeded 25 mm over the span of one week. In terms of estimating forage production, those years are assigned a value of 0, but the frequency of occurrence of such events is also the focus of a separate analysis on the reliability of forage production.

Results are presented on maps of rangeland habitats, defined by Heady and Child (1994) as any of the following biomes: savannah; grasslands, including meadows or herbaceous habitats; and shrublands, including scrub and chaparral. These biomes were selected from the Existing Vegetation Types layer of the national LANDFIRE dataset (USGS 2006) and overlaid on the climate models. Not all rangeland habitats are necessarily actively grazed, but no comprehensive map of grazing lands exists for the Bay Area. Most of the "pasture" acreage in Table 2 is actually rangeland used for grazing, with the exception of Solano County. Irrigated pastures comprise the bulk of Solano's pasture acreage, found predominantly in the eastern half of the county. Irrigated pastures were not included in the rangeland maps because they will not respond to changes in precipitation patterns in the same way and because they are often rotated against row crops, making it difficult to map them over long timescales.

#### 3.1.3 Wine Grape Production

Previous work in California has culminated in models assessing climate ramifications to wine yields and quality, primarily at the state scale (Lobell et al. 2006, 2007; Lobell and Field 2009) but more recently at the vineyard scale(Nicholas et al. 2011). Much can be learned by incorporating the substantial spatial heterogeneity of the Bay Area into a finer-scale model.

Lobell and colleagues (2006, 2007) analyzed historical wine yields and climate patterns and found the dominant variables predicting yields to be monthly means for minimum temperature in April (T<sub>n,4</sub>), precipitation in June (P<sub>6</sub>), and precipitation in the September of the previous harvest year (P<sub>-9</sub>). After first removing a linear trend of increasing yields due to technology (9.4 percent over a 24-year period, or roughly 0.4 percent per year), the Lobell model represented wine yield anomalies (the variation in wine yields due to climate) by the following equation, accounting for 66 percent of the variance:

 $Y = 2.65 T_{n,4} - 0.17 T_{2n,4}^2 + 4.78 P_6 - 4.93 P_{6}^2 - 2.24 P_{-9} + 1.54 P_{-9}^2 - 10.50$ 

Wine yield anomalies were thus computed for the Bay Area grid, in tons-per-acre difference from statewide averages from 1980–2003. It is not meaningful in this case to compare future to historic absolute measures, because they are essentially different units, anomalies of different base yields (increasing independently through time). For instance, if the model predicted an anomaly of a 10 percent increase for a particular place in the year 2020 and a 10 percent decrease in 2090, the yields would still be higher in the future because the overall yield trend (0.4 percent per year due to technology) increased more than the anomalies during that time. In order to more easily compare different time periods, the anomalies were added back to the overall trend to produce an estimate of total yield. Future yield was then divided by historic yield to calculate percent change in wine yields over time, and the base trend again was removed to determine the change in yields due to climate.

Potential impacts of climate on wine grape quality are indicated by mean temperature during the month of wine ripening. Hayhoe et al. (2004) designated ripening-month conditions as

optimal (15°C–22°C, or 59°F–72°F), marginal (22°C–24°C, or 72°F–75°F), or impaired (above 24°C, or 75°F) for producing high-quality wine grapes, based on thresholds established by Gladstones (1992) to balance sugar accumulation and acid declines. Marginal conditions can still produce high-quality wines, but may do so less consistently, while impaired conditions are unlikely to produce high-quality table wines. This approach estimated that grape ripening requires 1,150–1,300 degree-days above 10°C (50°F) between April and October (Hayhoe et al. 2004). This model uses a simpler degree-day calculation than the forage model:

$$DD = (T + t)/2 - g_{t}$$

with *T* and *t* as daily maximum and minimum temperatures respectively, and *g* as the base temperature (in this case 10°C, or 50°F). Degree-days were accumulated starting April 1 and "ripening date" was set as the day ADD exceeded 1,150. The following 30 days were set as the "ripening month," during which 1,300 degree-days were exceeded as well. The mean temperature during that ripening month was calculated for categorization into optimal, marginal, or impaired wine-growing conditions.

As with the forage production and rangeland maps, results for wine production are displayed on maps generated from the LANDFIRE dataset for agricultural habitats. The mean percent change in wine yields was calculated for all grid cells containing agricultural habitat in each county that grows wine grapes, even though not all agricultural habitat produces wine grapes (Table 2 provides a sense of this for each county). It is not possible to differentiate between wine grapes and other crops because current agricultural commodity data are limited to the county level, and in any case, wine grape production in the future is not necessarily limited to where it is presently produced. A semi-transparent background of the rest of the county is also included in these maps, because wine grapes are a high-value crop, and other land uses besides agriculture could conceivably be converted to grow wine if the conditions were right. Indeed, vineyard conversion is one of the biggest threats to rangeland preservation in the Bay Area (Marty 2012).

### 3.2 Results

#### 3.2.1 Forage Production

Increases in forage production generally can be expected in future climate conditions throughout rangelands of the Bay Area. The four different model outputs for the A2 emissions scenario show little difference between early-century (2005–2034) and mid-century (2035–2064) projections, with increases in peak forage production of 10 to 15 percent compared to historical (1961–1990) conditions (Appendix A, Table A-1). By late-century (2070–2099), the increases more than double: 26 to 32 percent higher forage production across eight Bay Area counties. Early-century model outputs for the B1 scenario are indistinguishable from the A2 scenario, and the B1 scenario then follows a more gradually increases than the A2 for late-century (Appendix A, Table A-2). The variability between the different models is also greater for the B1 scenario, especially by late-century, with confidence intervals several times as wide as those in A2.

Figure 2 provides a sense of the spatial heterogeneity of climate impacts at a finer scale. Future climate change could result in late-century increases in peak forage production of up to 40 percent for the higher-emissions A2 scenario in much of Napa, southern Marin, and northern Sonoma Counties, though these same areas show more modest increases of 20 to 25 percent in the B1 scenario. Northeastern Santa Clara County, in contrast, shows increases above 30 percent for both emissions scenarios.

Figure 3 plots monthly production over the forage season for different regions in the Bay Area, showing that differences between historical and future production are apparent even early in the forage season, and accumulate over the course of the season.

Figure 4 further highlights these differences, plotting the derivative of this production curve, the increase from historical to A2 or B1 late-century production at each timestep. In general, production in the North Bay (Marin/Sonoma and Napa/Solano) is consistently higher in the A2 scenario than the B1 scenario, while in the South Bay (Alameda and Santa Clara) the results are more mixed. These differences are also more spatially heterogeneous in the South Bay. In Alameda and Santa Clara, regional differences even within a county can exceed the differences expected from climate change; the highest-producing regions have higher production in the historical periods than some of the lower-producing regions, even in the future (Figure 3).



Figure 2. Change in Peak Forage Production by Late-century (2070–2099), Relative to Historical Conditions (1961–1990), Shown for Current Rangeland Habitats (Grassland, Savannah, and Shrubland) in the Bay Area



Figure 3. Seasonal Growth Curves for Forage Production in Different Regions Under Historical (1961–1990) and Future (2070–2099) Climate Conditions. Multiple lines of the same color represent different 12 x 12 km grid cells in the region. Only cells containing rangeland habitat were used (see Figure 2).



Figure 4. Change in Forage Production from Historical (1961–1990) to Future (2070–2099) Climate Scenarios. As in Figure 3, multiple lines of the same color represent different grid cells of rangeland in that area.

While helpful in detecting broad trends, viewing forage production over 30-year time periods hides the effect of extreme events. This model revealed years in which the germinating rain never occurred, and the growing season was essentially skipped. The models suggest that Alameda, Contra Costa, and Santa Clara counties were historically affected by these extreme dry years, experiencing one or two such events (or as many as four in the CNRM model for Alameda) over the 30-year period (Figures 5a and b).

The difference between historic and future conditions is highly model-dependent, with the GFDL model (Figure 5a) suggesting an increase in skipped seasons across most of the southern counties, while the NCAR CCSM model(Figure 5b) suggests a decrease in such events and a much smaller affected area. In fact, there is more variation between the four models than between the different time periods (Appendix B). The two emissions scenarios also produce vastly different results, as depicted in Figure 5c, which maps the four-model mean change in frequency of skipped seasons across the Bay Area. The mean of the models suggests a lower chance, on average, of skipped seasons in the southern counties for the B1 scenario compared to historic conditions, and a higher chance for the A2 scenario. The only outcomes that all models support are that the North Bay is almost entirely unaffected in all time periods, and southeastern Santa Clara experiences more extreme dry years under future conditions, meaning lower reliability of forage.

Forage availability is projected to be reduced by climate change, as the "forage season" or length of time during which high-quality forage is produced appears to grow shorter under both emissions scenarios, though markedly so only under the A2 scenario (Figure 6). The A2 scenario suggests that two-week shorter seasons can be expected by late-century for much of the Bay Area, with Santa Clara's seasons shrinking by more than three weeks (Appendix C, Table C-1). Rangelands in Marin and Napa fall on the lower end of that range, exacerbating historical differences between the Northern and Southern Bay area. Future forage season in eastern Santa Clara and Alameda Counties could drop as low as 100 days in length, a full 50 days shorter than the shortest season found in Marin or Sonoma Counties (Figure 6). The B1 scenario shows modest decreases in season length of a few days to a week, but the differences are not significant (with overlapping 95 percent confidence intervals between historic and latecentury, see Appendix C, Table C-2).



Source: Cayan et al.



Source: Cayan et al.

Figure 5a, b. Total Number of Skipped Forage Seasons in a 30-year Period for Historical (1961– 1990 and Future (2070–2099) Conditions, Projected for (a) CNRM and GFDL Models and (b) the NCAR CCSM and PCM Models. The forage season is considered "skipped" if precipitation required for germination (>25 mm over a one-week period) never occurs in a given year.



Source: Cayan et al.

Figure 5c. Change in the Number of Skipped Forage Seasons in the Future (2070–2099), Compared to Historical (1961–1990) Conditions for Current Rangeland Habitats in the Bay Area. The forage season is considered "skipped" if precipitation required for germination (>25 mm over a one-week period) never occurs in a given year.



Figure 6. Change in Rangeland Season Length by End-century (2070–2099), Relative to Historical Conditions (1961–1990) for Current Rangeland Habitats in the Bay Area

#### 3.2.2 Wine Grape Production

For wine grape production, differences between climate models are relatively small, and the main difference between the two emissions scenarios is that B1 generally results in higher yields (greater increases or smaller decreases) than A2 (Appendix D). The largest source of variation in wine yield change is spatial. Wine country fares well under both scenarios, with Napa yields increasing 30 to 40 percent by late century and Sonoma yields increasing 50 to 60 percent by late-century. Alameda, not as prominent a wine-producing region but still devoting nearly a third of its non-pasture agricultural acreage to wine, shows similar increases of 35 to 45 percent. Though wine accounts for only a fraction of the agricultural acreage throughout the rest of the Bay Area (Table 2), future climate conditions would decrease yields in the agricultural areas of Contra Costa. Impacts on wine yields in Solano and Santa Clara are variable under different climate models and emissions scenarios, but are not as consistently positive as in wine country. This dichotomy is visible in Figure 7, which shows benefits to wine yields in the North Bay and detriments in the South Bay under future climate conditions.

Wine ripening date, determined by the accumulation of degree-days above 10°C (50°F) reaching 1,150 after April 1, occurs earlier under both emissions scenarios and all climate models (Appendix E). The ripening date moves back steadily over the three time periods, occurring an average of two weeks earlier in the B1 scenario and nearly a month earlier in the A2 scenario (more than a month for some models).

The mean temperature in the month after wine ripening increases in all climate models and emissions scenarios. As described in the methods (following Hayhoe et al. 2004), elevated temperature during ripening month means reduced wine quality if the temperature passes a certain threshold. Historical conditions put most of the Bay Area, wine country in particular, in the "optimal" category for producing high-quality wines, 15°C–22°C (59°F–72°F) (Figure 8). By mid-century in both emissions scenarios, temperatures throughout much of the Bay Area (including Napa) climb into the 22°C–24°C (72°F–75°F) range considered "marginal" for producing high-quality wines (Appendix F). By late-century in the A2 scenario, Sonoma reaches the "marginal" range, while the rest of the Bay Area exceeds the 24°C (75°F) "impaired" threshold above which high-quality wines are rarely produced (Figure 8).



Figure 7. Change in Wine Yields Due to Climate (base trend removed) by End-century (2070-2099), Relative to Historical Conditions (1961–1990). Brighter colors (corresponding to legend) show current agricultural acreage in the Bay Area; lighter colors show change in conditions for wine grape growing in areas not currently farmed.



Figure 8. Historical (1961–1990) and Future (2070–2099) Ripening Month Conditions for Wine Grape Growing, Under Two Climate Scenarios (B1 and A2). Average temperatures during ripening month determine whether climate is optimal (15°C–22°C), marginal (22°C–24 °C), or impaired (>24 °C) for producing high-quality wines. Brighter colors (corresponding to legend) show current agricultural acreage in the Bay Area; lighter colors show change in conditions for wine grape growing in areas not currently farmed.

### 3.3 Discussion

#### 3.3.1 Forage Production

This discussion will further explore the number of ways climate change can affect rangelands, and the consequent implications for management. Future climate effects on the quantity, timing, reliability, and overall availability of forage production were modeled here, while plant and community-level impacts on the nutritional value of the forage and the response of the animals themselves are additional factors that should be considered. At the habitat level, future vegetation and land-use mapping can further inform the implications of climate change for the future of rangeland production. A variety of management strategies could serve as potential adaptation measures to the threats posed by climate change.

The increases in forage production are widespread throughout the Bay Area, and are especially pronounced in northeastern Santa Clara and southern Alameda counties. The shape of the production curves suggests that these gains are driven primarily by winter warming. The shape of the curve at the beginning and end of the forage growing season is more influenced by precipitation, as discussed below regarding forage availability, but the majority of the gains over historical forage production are accrued in winter months. The slopes of the production curves through the winter months are steeper for both future emissions scenarios (Figure 3). Production increases in the A2 scenario reach a maximum in most parts of the Bay Area by the end of February or March (Figure 4). In the B1 scenario, the maximum occurs much earlier, by the end of October or November, but the magnitude of the maximum differences between historic and future production are much more variable than in the A2 scenario (25 to 80 percent increases for B1, 30 to 55 percent for A2).

While grazing may benefit from increases in forage production, both at its peak and throughout the winter, the overall reliability and availability of forage are other serious considerations for ranchers. The frequency of years so dry as to result in a "skipped" forage season is low (only a few times in a 30-year period), and therefore the zeroes for forage production in those few years do not significantly affect the overall 30-year mean, especially when production in an average year is 30 percent higher in the future compared to historic conditions.

Such events do not need to occur frequently to effect ranchers on a year-to-year basis, however. As noted in Section 1, lower reliability of forage can effectively reduce the carrying capacity of the land (Hanson et al. 1993), affecting stocking decisions. Furthermore, even infrequent occurrence of such an extreme event as a missed growing season could be catastrophic for some operations. A year during which no or very little forage is produced could add potentially irrecoverable costs to an enterprise with an already thin profit margin. Nimble operations could move livestock to other wetter (or irrigated) regions, begin irrigating some of their pastures, or purchase supplemental feed, but each of these present additional costs that not all operations will be able to bear. The current projections for precipitation in the Bay Area are highly uncertain and very model-dependent, making it difficult to draw many conclusions regarding drought and the impact of climate change on forage reliability, but this does not diminish the importance of this issue to ranching sustainability. At a minimum, it would be prudent for

ranchers to consider their options and make emergency plans for dry years, especially those in southeastern Santa Clara County.

Meanwhile, the higher forage production seen in future scenarios will be packed into a shorter amount of time. The reason availability of high-quality forage is expected to decline in the future is primarily because the growing season will end earlier (by 10–12 days on average); this shift is illustrated by the shallower slope in the growth curves during the month of May in the future as compared to historic conditions (Figure 3), and is consistent in both emissions scenarios and across the Bay Area.

The main differences between scenarios and among different regions are due to the timing of germination. In the A2 scenario, the seasons in Santa Clara and Alameda are delayed by a week to 12 days compared to historical conditions; whereas, the season in the northern Bay Area starts only slightly (2–3 days) later than historically. This intensifies the historical differences between the North and South Bay (with the South Bay germination occurring a week to a month behind the North Bay's). In contrast, earlier rains mean earlier germination (2–3 days on average, up to a week) throughout much of the Bay Area for the B1 scenario, except for southeastern Santa Clara, where germination occurs up to a week later. The earlier season start almost compensates for the earlier end in the B1 scenario, which is why the impact of climate change on season length is much subtler than for the A2 scenario. This also contributes to production in the late-century B1 scenario edging out that in the A2 scenario during the first few months of the season (Figure 3).

Forage availability portrayed in the current model also captures, to a certain extent, seasonal impacts to forage quality. As discussed in Section 1, crude protein content generally exceeds livestock needs for growth and maintenance during the forage-growing season, but outside of this growing season, from late spring and summer through early fall, livestock require protein supplementation to utilize forage even for maintenance (Van Dyne and Heady 1965). Delayed onset of the germinating rains(as seen in the A2 scenario model projections) would delay improvements to forage quality that could affect the traditional fall calving season, while earlier onset of the dry season (as seen in both emissions scenarios) could require early weaning in the cow-calf operations that dominate Bay Area livestock production (Sheila Barry, personal communication).

In general, the decrease in the availability of high-quality forage, based on the growing season length seen with higher emissions, would increase the amount of supplemental feed needed or require other alternatives to gain access to high-quality forage, as discussed above. Additional climate impacts on the nutritional content of the forage, beyond the impacts of seasonality, will also likely play a role in the response of livestock systems to climate change. More data in Californian systems are needed before climate impacts can be forecast for these variables. Qualitatively, however, if the nitrogen content of forage decreases with increased CO<sub>2</sub> (IPCC 2007), or if rangeland plant community composition shifts toward less-palatable species (Dukes et al. 2011), more forage would need to be consumed for the animal to obtain the same amount of protein. Whether this increased demand would exceed the increased supply projected for most years in the future is not currently possible to determine.

Regardless of the balance between future forage quantity and quality, rising temperatures will alter animal performance for ranching operations throughout much of the Bay Area. As average summer temperatures climb past the upper threshold of the thermal neutral zone (25°C, or 77°F) in the eastern and southern Bay Area (Figure 1), cattle will reduce their feed intake, seeking more shelter and rest (Buchanan-Smith et al. 1996; Hahn 1985), and ultimately reducing their weight gain and increasing their time to slaughter. The North Bay will remain within cattle's thermal neutral zone through the end of the century, which may make it an increasingly attractive area for grazing, as the rest of the Bay Area and California at large grow too warm for optimal cattle performance. In reality, many ranching operations in the interior portions of California already shut down production during summer months due to lack of forage, either timing their slaughter accordingly or moving their cattle into wetter alpine areas. A future possibility for adaptation may also be to shift to more heat-tolerant breeds of cattle or even goats or sheep (Seo et al. 2010). Such management strategies will help ease the burden of progressively hotter summers.

Another important consideration for animal performance under future climate conditions in the Bay Area is the availability of livestock water. Dramatic reductions are expected in Sierra snowpack by the end of the century, leading to decreased spring flow in creeks throughout the San Francisco Bay watershed (Knowles and Cayan 2002). Seasonal water sources for livestock will therefore dry up earlier than usual, and water available for stock ponds can also be expected to decline as urban demands need to be met (HRC-GWRI 2011).Without a nearby water source, the ability of livestock to graze will be limited, regardless of forage quality and quantity (Sheila Barry, personal communication).

In addition to climate change impacts at the plant or animal level, vegetation modeling shows that there will be impacts at the habitat level that should be considered. Winter warming is expected to promote transitions from grassland to shrubland, chaparral, or redwood forest throughout much of the North Bay, especially in Pt. Reyes, where coyote brush will dominate (Cornwell et al. 2012). Of course, this model does not take management into account, and grazing itself is a proven way of keeping rangeland grazable (Huntsinger et al. 2007). As long as ranchers continue to work the land consistently, they should be able to keep much of this projected woody encroachment at bay. However, extra vigilance will be required in much of the North Bay to maintain desirable grazing lands, which may add to operating costs, depending on usage. Shrub invasion is already common in Bay Area grasslands when disturbance from grazing or fire is infrequent, and of particular concern to rangeland productivity is the recent invasion of non-native nitrogen-fixing shrubs such as gorse, lupine, French broom, and Scotch broom (Tyler et al. 2007). These invasions are especially hard to manage, as they are insensitive to fire and many other management techniques, and as nitrogen-fixers they alter the soil in ways that can have cascading effects on the whole plant community, facilitating invasion of exotic grasses. (D'Antonio et al. 2007). Meanwhile, the eastern South Bay is projected to shift from Oak woodland and chaparral to grassland, and the Peninsula from Redwood/Douglas fir to chaparral (Cornwell et al. 2012), both of which would open up more land for potential grazing.

Furthermore, wildfires have been projected to increase in area by 40 to 50 percent throughout much of the Bay Area, which could further expand the conversion to grassland in many areas (Lenihan et al. 2006). However, habitat throughout the entire Bay Area faces threats from urbanization in addition to climate change. With a rapidly growing population expected to continue to increase over the next century, many lands currently suitable to agriculture and grazing are and will continue to be in high demand for conversion to residential and urban uses. Urbanization projections (acquired from Thorne et al. 2012) suggest that up to 14.7 percent of rangelands can be expected to be converted by 2050 in a business-as-usual scenario, 10.4 percent in a smart-growth scenario (Figure 9).

As acknowledged throughout this discussion, there are many strategies that ranchers could use adapt to climate change, few of them novel, and many of them adding costs to the enterprise of ranching and threatening its economic viability. Ranchers already manage for the next year's forage availability by leaving a certain amount of residual dry matter (RDM); the relationship between germination and RDM is well established and widely monitored (Huntsinger et al. 2007). When forage production in a given year is low, however, a rancher must essentially choose between current and future forage availability. The most common management decisions when rangelands are not producing enough to sustain grazing are to supplement with hay or alfalfa or other forms of feed, and/or to move the herd to greener pastures-toward the north or the coast, up a mountain, or to irrigated areas. Grass-banking, or setting aside rangeland for common use during droughts or other emergencies, has been a successful strategy for the Malpai Borderlands Group in southern Arizona (MBG 2006; Huntsinger et al. 2007), and could offer a solution to reduced reliability of forage production under climate change. Another common practice is to time slaughter or sale of the animals in correspondence with the seasonal production of high-quality forage. A strategy that has not received as much attention until recently is shifting production toward more heat- or drought-tolerant breeds or species of livestock. Each of these has its drawbacks: the extra costs of supplemental feed and moving livestock, the increased competition for irrigation which will continue to increase with greater urban water demand in the future, the limited availability of fresh beef when slaughters are timed to one part of the year, and the added risk or uncertainty of taking on a new and unfamiliar breed. However, with its more temperate climate, the Bay Area, and the North Bay in particular, may be at an advantage over livestock-producing regions in the hotter, drier interior of the state. Meeting the challenges posed by the climate threats the Bay Area faces will be vital to the preservation of rangelands and the ranching industry in the region, which could play an increasingly important role in livestock production in California.



Figure 9. UPLAN Projections for Urban Encroachment into Rangelands by 2050. Green areas show rangeland habitats (not including agricultural land-uses such as pasture); grey areas show existing urban or residential areas. Yellow and red areas show the projected urban areas only where they overlap with current rangelands, for smart growth (yellow) and business-as-usual (red) scenarios. (See Thorne et al. 2012 for more details on UPLAN projections.) Red and yellow areas therefore show the threat to rangelands posed by urbanization.

#### 3.3.2 Wine Grape Production

As with forage production, wine yields may increase with climate change throughout much of the Bay Area (most important, in Napa and Sonoma, where the vast majority of Bay Area wine grapes are grown), but yields are not the only or even most important consideration in wine grape production. Quality will likely decline in the most prized wine regions, with major consequences for the profitability of the industry, unless adaptive measures can be identified and successfully implemented.

The increases in wine yields for Napa and Sonoma Counties are much larger than previous models have forecast at the statewide scale (Lobell et al. 2007). This suggests that yields in Bay Area wine country will be favored by climate change relative to other regions in California. The

results presented here were for yield increases or decreases relative to current production, because that held a more meaningful value for a specific region like the Bay Area. However, the analysis was based on an equation calculating wine yield anomalies, or deviations from the state average (Lobell et al. 2006, 2007). Yield anomalies are negative throughout the Bay Area, meaning that Bay Area yields are lower than the state average. These anomalies grow less negative over time in Napa and Sonoma, translating to the overall yield increases shown here (Figure 7). In contrast, yield anomalies are increasingly negative in Solano and Contra Costa Counties, meaning that it will become economically even less attractive to grow grapes in the few places they are currently grown in those counties.

Even with higher yields, profitability in wine country may decline with climate change due to decreasing wine quality. This model suggests that ripening conditions will grow warmer in the future, both because mean temperatures increase in future climates and because the shift in ripening time means that the berries are ripening in August instead of September, which is generally a warmer month. Wine country summer temperatures are currently on the high end of the optimal (15°C–22°C, or 59°F–72°F) range, and its future climate will be pushed out of that envelope (Figure 1).

These results are supported by another way to look at climate impacts on wine quality, the change in area suitable to wine-growing. Diffenbaugh et al. (2011) projected substantial losses of the highest-quality wine-growing areas in Napa County, even though there were equivalent gains in lower-quality areas. Though their analysis takes a different approach to estimating wine quality (total growing degree days for the season, rather than the temperature during ripening month defined by growing degree days, as calculated here), the results are the same: climate conditions in Napa's agricultural acreage moves from being "optimal" wine-production to almost entirely in the "impaired" category, in which high-quality wines are rarely produced (Figure 8). Incorporating information on soil type, as well as climate in a Maximum Entropy approach, Hannah et al. (2012) show that by the end of the century, nowhere in Napa will be suitable for quality wine grape production, and that novel regions for wine production will emerge along the coast.

The results presented here also offer a new insight: Sonoma may fare better, with much of its agricultural area remaining "marginal" by the end of the century in the A2 scenario, which means that high-quality production is still possible, albeit more difficult or less reliable. This emphasizes the importance of regional analyses such as this to highlight such small-scale differences. With the area of optimal wine-producing regions projected to shrink by 50 percent statewide (White et al. 2006) or 37 percent worldwide (Hannah et al. 2012), Sonoma could become an even more important asset in the California's wine-producing portfolio.

As the impacts of climate change and the specific aspects of wine-production that are most sensitive to it are growing increasingly well understood, vineyard adaptation strategies have been discussed widely and are reviewed by Nicholas and Durham (in press). An analysis by Nicholas (2011) rates various measures by six criteria (spatial scale, temporal scale, cost, technical feasibility, cultural acceptability, and effectiveness), using her investigations in wine management in Napa and Sonoma as a case study. While switching growing locations or crops are often suggested as possible adaptation measures that winegrowers could employ in a changing climate, Nicholas identified several constraints to these measures, reducing their overall feasibility. Cultural acceptability presents a major barrier, with growers demonstrating unwillingness to give up land or lifestyle that was part of their family history or identity.

One can envision subtler applications of both of these measures. Production could be moved to different locations on the same vineyard if varying microclimates exist (as is often the case in such topographically diverse region as the Bay Area). Changing varietals or even clones of the same varietal would obviously be much easier and more acceptable to growers than changing crops. However, the time scales over which any adaptation measures related to planting decisions operate present a challenge in wine, which takes decades to reach maturity and therefore faces increased investment and opportunity costs compared to other crops (Bisson et al. 2002). This particular challenge could be (and often is) ameliorated by grafting heat-tolerant varieties onto pre-existing rootstocks, but such options are expensive (estimated at \$5,000 per acre) and whether a particular switch in variety could compensate for the changes produced by climate would depend on the specific location and its exposure to climate threats (Nicholas and Durham, in press).

Identifying the specific mechanisms by which wine-growing regions could increase their resilience to the impacts of climate change can help guide management for adaptation. Diffenbaugh et al. (2011) found that increasing the tolerance of growing season days above 20°C (68°F) from 15 to 30 days would eliminate losses in wine quality, at least in the near term (2030– 2039). In addition to grafting or replanting more heat-tolerant varieties, simpler and potentially less expensive strategies to enhance heat tolerance in wine in the short term include spraying a kaolin clay to act as a "sunscreen" for the berries, employing overhead sprinklers or evaporative cooling to reduce temperatures in the field, or managing vegetation for shade enhancement (Nicholas and Durham, in press). Both Diffenbaugh et al. (2011) and Nicholas and Durham (in press) agree that shade enhancement in particular is an effective temperature-reduction method without major barriers to implementation, and indeed, is already practiced in some areas. Altering the trellising structure, pruning techniques or timing, and/or row orientation can all help provide more shade, which can reduce the temperature of the berries by more than 10°C (50° F) (Bergqvist et al. 2001). Though such additional management is not without cost, and may have other effects on wine production that need to be weighed against ripening conditions, such substantial reductions in berry temperature could serve the wine industry through climate change well into the next century.

#### 3.3.3 Model Strengths and Weaknesses

Both the forage production and the wine production models benefit from downscaled climate data to explore in fine spatial and temporal (daily) resolution what impacts a future climate will have on agriculture in the San Francisco Bay Area. However, empirical models such as those presented here are only as good as the data from which the relationships were derived.

In the case of wine production, yield data can only be acquired at the county scale, and therefore even though yields are projected at a finer scale, the relationships between yields and climate are based on coarser statewide differences. Including finer-scale variables such as soil type and topography would improve a wine production model if field-level yield data could be acquired. With respect to forecasting changes to wine grape quality, recent work has revealed that modeling ripening time based on growing degree days from April 1 may be an overly simplistic approach (Webb et al. 2011). Nicholas et al. (2011) have found mean August temperatures to be more predictive of wine quality for pinot noir, and while such relationships are obviously very varietal-specific, future work could explore and compare different approaches to modeling quality.

In the case of forage production, data were acquired at a fine-scale field-level resolution, but none of these data were taken within the Bay Area. Hopland Field Station is only ten miles north of Sonoma County, and while the San Joaquin Experimental Range and Sierra Foothill Research and Extension Center are further away (in Madera and Yuba Counties, respectively), they may be representative of the interior parts of the Bay Area like Alameda and Santa Clara counties. However, coastal data would certainly improve the model, and in their absence, model projections for coastal rangelands like those in Marin should be interpreted with caution. Indeed, the shape of the forage growth curves projected for the historical period (shown in Figure 3 in grey) in Marin and Sonoma does not resemble that of the growth curves found in George et al. (2001a). The curves projected for the historical period in Alameda and Santa Clara counties have the shallower slopes during winter months that the George curves display. The coastal regions could have a steeper production curve through the winter than that found at the inland field stations documented by George et al. (2001a), but it is also possible that this model overestimates production in the coastal regions of the Bay Area. Finally, the relationship derived by George et al. (1988), on which the forage production model is based, was dependent on precipitation only in so far as it defined the bounds of the season. Altered precipitation patterns such as longer or more frequent midwinter droughts could change the rules of the game, making the historical relationship between climate and forage production less applicable in future conditions.

## **Section 4: Conclusions**

The aspects of Bay Area agriculture most sensitive to climate change are not yields, but subtler nuances of production. In a future with higher temperatures and altered precipitation patterns, ranchers will need to consider management options for grazing shorter or less-reliable seasons and for forage of questionable nutritional content. Winegrowers will need to find ways to reduce heat stress of their berries or face lower values for their product. These vulnerabilities to climate change are not as easily translated to economic losses as yields are, and how they will weigh against the projected yield gains in forage and wine production is not well understood. However, the main message for the effects of climate change on Bay Area agriculture is that it will present some opportunities as well as some challenges.

In addition to being a major supplier of these valuable agricultural commodities, the Bay Area is an important consumer of agricultural products. Any major metropolitan area demands agricultural production far in excess of what can be produced on its own footprint, but the Bay Area in particular has a growing demand for a locally and sustainably produced food economy. This is where the personal food politics of Bay Area residents may fit in especially well with climate change mitigation and adaptation. Locally sourced food reduces greenhouse emissions, and Bay Area agriculture can support climate change mitigation by producing more of the total food consumed by the people living here. The diversity of Bay Area agriculture could further help provide adaptation options to climate change, as losses in some crops will potentially be offset by gains in others. While it is clearly important to recognize that some crops are more economically valuable than others, and therefore that not all trade-offs will be without economic cost, further diversifying the Bay Area agricultural portfolio could buffer against uncertainty in climate outcomes while better meeting the dietary needs of residents in the Bay Area.

### References

- Agboh-Noameshie, A. R., and Al-Ajjawi S. (2004) Impact Assessment of Organic Farming Program in Three California Counties. Davis, California: UC Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education Program.
- Backlund, P., Janetos A., Schimel D., Hatfield J., Boote K., Fay P., Hahn L., Izaurralde C., Kimball B. A., Mader T., Morgan J., Ort D., Polley W., Thomson A., Wolfe D., Ryan M. G., Archer S. R., Birdsey R., Dahm C., Heath L., Hicke J., Hollinger D., Huxman T., Okin G., Oren R., Randerson J., Schlesinger W., Lettenmaier D., Major D., Poff L., Running S., Hansen L., Inouye D., Kelly B. P., Meyerson L., Peterson B., and Shaw R. (2008) *The Effects of Climate Change on Agriculture, Land Resources, Water Resources, and Biodiversity in the United States.* A Report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research. SAP 4.3, 362 pp. Washington, D.C.
- Bergqvist, J., Dokoozlian N., and Ebisuda N. (2001)"Sunlight exposure and temperature effects on berry growth and composition of Cabernet Sauvignon and Grenache in the central San Joaquin Valley of California." *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 52:1–7.
- Bisson, L. F., Waterhouse A. L., Ebeler S. E., Walker M.A., and Lapsley J. T. (2002) "The present and future of the international wine industry." *Nature* 418:696–699.
- Buchanan-Smith, J. G., Berger L. L., Ferrell C. L., Fox D. G., Galyean M. L., Hutcheson D. P., Klopfenstein T. J., and Spears J. W. (1996) *Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle*. Board on Agriculture and Natural Resources, National Research Council. National Academy Press, Washington D.C.
- Carroll, J. E., and Wilcox W. F. (2003) "Effects of humidity on the development of grapevine powdery mildew." *Phytopathology* 93:1137–44.
- Cayan D., Tyree M., Pierce D., and Das T. (2012) Climate and Sea Level Change Scenarios for California Vulnerability and Adaptation Assessment. California Energy Commission. Publication number: CEC-500-2012-008.
- Cayan D., Maurer E. P., Dettinger M. D., Tyree M., Hayhoe K., Bonfils C., Duffy P., Santer B. (2006) Climate scenarios for California. California Energy Commission. California Climate Change Center White Paper, Sacramento, California.
- Chiariello, N. R. (1989) Phenology of California grasslands. pp 47–58 In: Huenneke L. F., Mooney H. A. (eds). *Grassland structure and function: California annual grassland*. Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- Chou, W. W., Silver W. L., Jackson R. D., Thompson A. W., Allen-Diaz B. (2008) "The sensitivity of annual grassland carbon cycling to the quantity and timing of rainfall." *Global Change Biology* 14: 1382–1394.
- Corbin, J. D., Dyer A. R., and Seabloom E. W. (2007) Competitive interactions. In: Corbin J, Stromberg M, D'Antonio CM (eds). *California Grasslands: Ecology and Management*. University of California Press.
- Cornwell, W. K., Stuart S., Ramirez A., and Ackerly D. D. (2012) Climate Change Impacts on California Vegetation: Physiology, Life History, and Ecosystem Change. California Energy Commission. Publication number: CEC-500-2012-023.

- Craine, J. M., Elmore A. J., Olson K. C., and Tolleson D. (2010) "Climate change and cattle nutritional stress." *Global Change Biology* 16:2901–2911.
- D'Antonio, C. M., Malmstrom C., Reynolds S. A., and Gerlach J. (2007) Ecology of invasive nonnative species in California grassland. In: Corbin J., Stromberg M., D'Antonio C. M. (eds). California Grasslands: Ecology and Management, UC Press.
- Daugherty, M. P., Bosco D., and Almeida R. P. P. (2009) "Temperature mediates vector transmission efficiency: Inoculum supply and plant infection dynamics." *Annals of Applied Biology* 155:361–369.
- De Dios, O. O., and Hahn G. L. (1993) Thermoregulation of growing bovines during fall transitional environments. Proc. 4th Int'l Livestock Environment Symposium: 289–297. SP03-93, Amer. Soc. Agric. Engrs., St. Joseph, Michigan.
- Diffenbaugh, N. S., White, M. A., Jones, G. V., and Ashfaq, M. (2011) "Climate adaptation wedges: A case study of premium wine in the western United States." *Environmental Research Letters* 6: 024024.
- Dukes J. S., Chiariello N. R., Loarie S. R., and Field C. B. (2011) "Strong response of an invasive plant species (Centaurea solstitialis L.) to global environmental changes." *Ecological Applications* 21:1887–1894.
- Dukes, J. S., and Shaw M. R. (2007) Responses to changing atmosphere and climate. Pp. 218–232 In: Corbin J, Stromberg M, D'Antonio CM (eds). *California Grasslands: Ecology and Management*. UC Press.
- Gale, P., Drew T., Phipps L.P., David G., and Wooldridge M. (2009) The effect of climate change on the occurrence and prevalence of livestock diseases in Great Britain: A review. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 106:1409–23.
- George, M., and Bell M. (2001) Using Stage of Maturity to Predict the Quality of Annual Range Forage. ANR Publ. 8019, Div. of Agric. & Nat. Res., Univ. of Calif., Oakland, Calif. 7 pgs.
- George, M., Bartolome J., McDougald N., Connor M., Vaughn C., and Markegard G. (2001a) Annual Range Forage Production. ANR Publ. 8018, Div. of Agric. & Nat. Res., Univ. of Calif., Oakland, Calif. 9 pgs.
- George, M. R., Larsen R. E., McDougald N. M., Vaughn C. E., Flavell D. K., Dudley D. M., Frost W. E., Striby K. D., and Forero L. C. (2010) "Determining Drought on California's Mediterranean-Type Rangelands: The Noninsured Crop Disaster Assistance Program." *Rangelands* 32:16–20.
- George, M., Nader G., McDougald N., Connor M., and Frost B. (2001b) Annual Rangeland Forage Quality. ANR Publ. 8022, Div. of Agric. & Nat. Res., Univ. of Calif., Oakland, Calif. 13 pgs.
- George, M. R., Raguse C. A., Clawson W. J., Wilson C. B., Willoughby R. L., McDougald N. K., Duncan D. A., and Murphy A. H. (1988) "Correlation of degree-days with annual herbage yields and livestock gains." *Journal of Range Management* 41:193–197.
- George, M. R., Williams W. A., McDougald N. K., Clawson W. J., and Murphy A. H. (1989) Predicting Peak Standing Crop on Annual Range Using Weather Variables. *Journal of Range Management* 42:509–513.

Gladstones, J. (1992) Viticulture and Environment. Winetitles, Adelaide, South Australia.

- Gutierrez, A. P., Ponti L., Hoddle M., Almeida R. P. P., and Irvin N. A. (2011) Geographic distribution and relative abundance of the invasive Glassy-Winged Sharpshooter: Effects of temperature and egg parasitoids. *Environmental Entomology* 40:755–769.
- Gutierrez, A. P., Ponti L., D'Oultremont T., and Ellis C. K. (2008) "Climate change effects on poikilotherm tritrophic interactions." *Climatic Change* 87:S167–S192.
- Hahn, G. L. (1985) Management and housing of farm animals in hot environment. In: Yousef M. K. (ed.) Stress Physiology of Livestock. Ungulates, Vol. 2. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, p. 151–176.
- Hannah, L., M. R. Shaw, M. Ikegami, P. R. Roehrdanz, O. Soong, and J. Thorne. 2012. Consequences of Climate Change for Native Plants and Conservation. California Energy Commission. Publication number: CEC-500-2012-024.
- Hanson, J., Baker B., and Bourdon R. (1993) "Comparison of the effects of different climate change scenarios on rangeland livestock production." *Agricultural Systems* 41:487–502.
- Harris, N. R. (2001) Cattle behavior and distribution on the San Joaquin Experimental Range in the foothills of Central California. PhD Dissertation. Oregon State University.
- Hayhoe, K., Cayan D., Field C. B., Frumhoff P. C., Maurer E. P., Miller N. L., Moser S. C., Schneider S. H., Cahill K. N., Cleland E. E., Dale L., Drapek R., Hanemann R. M., Kalkstein L. S., Lenihan J., Lunch C. K., Neilson R. P., Sheridan S. C., and Verville J. H. (2004) "Emissions pathways, climate change, and impacts on California." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101:12422–7.
- Heady, H. F., and Child R. D. (1994) *Rangeland Ecology and Management*. Westview Press. Boulder, Colorado, USA.
- Howden, S. M., Crimp S. J., and Stokes C. J. (2008) "Climate change and Australian livestock systems: Impacts, research and policy issues." *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* 48:780.
- Huntsinger, L., Bartolome J. W., and D'Antonio C. (2007) Grazing management on California's Mediterranean Grasslands. Pp. 233–253 In: Corbin J., Stromberg M., D'Antonio C. M. (eds). *California Grasslands: Ecology and Management* UC Press.
- HRC-GWRI (2011) Climate Change Implications for Managing Northern California Water Resources in the Latter 21st Century. California Energy Commission, PIER Energy-Related Environmental Research. CEC-500-2010-051.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2007) http://www.ipcc.ch/publications\_and\_data/ar4/wg2/en/ch5s5-4-3-1.html.
- Jackson, L. E., and Roy J. (1986) Growth-patterns of Mediterranean annual and perennial grasses under simulated rainfall regimes of Southern France and California. *Acta Oecologica: Oecologia Plantarum* 7: 191–212.
- Johnstone, J. A., and Dawson T. E. (2010) "Climatic context and ecological implications of summer fog decline in the coast redwood region." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107:4533–8.

- Klinedinst, P. L., Wilhite D. A., Hahn G. L., and Hubbard K.G. (1993) "The potential effects of climate change on summer season dairy cattle milk production and reproduction." *Climatic Change* 23:21–36.
- Knowles, N., and Cayan D. R. (2002) "Potential effects of global warming on the Sacramento/San Joaquin watershed and the San Francisco estuary." *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 29(18), 1891, doi:10.1029/2001GL014339.
- Lebassi, B., González J., Fabris D., Maurer E., Miller N., Milesi C., Switzer P., and Bornstein R. (2009) "Observed 1970–2005 Cooling of Summer Daytime Temperatures in Coastal California." *Journal of Climate* 22:3558–3573.
- Lenihan, J. M., Bachelet D., Drapek R., and Neilson R. P. (2006) The response of vegetation distribution, ecosystem productivity, and fire in California to future climate scenarios simulated by the MC1 dynamic vegetation model. California Energy Commission. Publication number: CEC-500-2005-191-SF
- Lobell, D., Field C., Nicholas Cahill K., and Bonfils C. (2006) "Impacts of future climate change on California perennial crop yields: Model projections with climate and crop uncertainties." *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 141:208–218.
- Lobell, D. B., and Field C. B. (2009) California perennial crops in a changing climate. California Energy Commission- California Climate Change Center White Paper, Sacramento, California.
- Lobell, D. B., Nicholas Cahill K., and Field C. B. (2007) "Historical effects of temperature and precipitation on California crop yields." *Climatic Change* 81:187–203.
- Logan, S. H., and Boyland, P. B. (1983) "Calculating heat units via a sine function." *Journal of the American Society of Horticultural Science* 108: 977–980.
- Mader, T. L., Frank K. L., Harrington J. A., Hahn G. L., and Nienaber J. A. (2009) "Potential climate change effects on warm-season livestock production in the Great Plains." *Climatic Change* 97:529–541.
- Marty, J. (2012) What is Happening to California Rangelands? California Rangeland Conservation Coalition 7th Annual Summit, January 19–20, 2012. University of California, Davis. <u>http://www.carangeland.org/home/2012summit.html</u>.
- MBG (2006) Grassbanking. The Malpais Borderlands Group: <u>http://www.malpaiborderlandsgroup.org/gb.asp</u> (accessed 2/14/2012).
- Murphy, A. H. (1970) "Predicted forage yield based on fall precipitation in California annual grasslands." *Journal of Range Management* 23: 363–365.
- NASS (2008) National Agricultural Statistics Service. County Agricultural Commissioners Data, California. <u>http://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics\_by\_State/California/Publications/</u><u>AgComm/Detail/index.asp</u>.
- Nemani, R., White M., Cayan D., Jones G., Running S., Coughlan J., and Peterson D. (2001) "Asymmetric warming over coastal California and its impact on the premium wine industry." *Climate Research* 19:25–34.
- Nicholas, K. A., Matthews M. A., Field C. B., Lobell D. B., and Willits N. H. (2011) "Effect of vineyard-scale climate variability on Pinot noir phenolic composition." *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 151, 1556–1567.

- Nicholas, K. A., and Durham W.H. (in press) Farm-scale adaptation and vulnerability to environmental stresses: Insights from winegrowing in Northern California. *Global Environmental Change*.
- Nicholas, K. A. (2011) Embedding Adaptiveness in Space and Time to Enhance Resilience: A Case Study from California's Wine Industry. Conference paper, Colorado Conference on Earth System Governance: Crossing Boundaries and Building Bridges, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Pardo E., Marin S., Sanchis V., and Ramos A. (2005) "Impact of relative humidity and temperature on visible fungal growth and OTA production of ochratoxigenic isolates on grapes." *Food Microbiology* 22:383–389.
- Salinari, F., Giosue, S., Francesco, N. T., Rettori, A., Rossi, V., Spanna, F., Rosenzweig, C., and Gullino, M. L. (2006) "Downy mildew (Plasmopara viticola) epidemics on grapevine under climate change." *Global Change Biology* 12: 1299–1307.
- Shaw, R. M., Pendleton L., Cameron D., Morris B., Bratman G., Bachelet D., Klausmeyer K., MacKenzie J., Conklin D., Lenihan J., Haunreiter E., and Daly C. (2009) The impact of climate change on California's ecosystem services. California Energy Commission-California Climate Change Center White Paper, Sacramento, California.
- Seo, S. N., McCarl B. A., and Mendelsohn R. (2010) "From beef cattle to sheep under global warming? An analysis of adaptation by livestock species choice in South America." *Ecological Economics* 69: 2486–2494.
- Son, Y., Groves R. L., Daane K. M., Morgan D. J. W., and Johnson M. W. (2009) "Influences of temperature on Homalodisca vitripennis (Hemiptera: Cicadellidae) survival under various feeding conditions." *Environmental entomology* 38:1485–95.
- Suttle, K. B., Thomsen M. A., and Power M. E. (2007) "Species interactions reverse grassland responses to changing climate." *Science* 315: 640–642.
- Tyler, C. M., Odion D. C., and Callaway R. M. (2007) Dynamics of woody species in the California grassland. In: Corbin J., Stromberg M., D'Antonio C.M. (eds). *California Grasslands: Ecology and Management* UC Press.
- Thorne, J., Bjorkman J., and Roth N. (2012) Urban Growth in California: Projecting Growth in California (2000–2050) Under Six Alternative Policy Scenarios and Assessing Impacts to Future Dispersal Corridors, Fire Threats and Climate-Sensitive Agriculture. California Energy Commission. Publication number: CEC-500-2012-009.
- USGS (U.S. Department of Interior, Geological Survey)(2006) The national map LANDFIRE national existing vegetation type layer. (Last updated September 2006.) Available at: <u>http://gisdata.usgs.net/website/landfire/</u>.
- van Dijk, J., Sargison N. D., Kenyon F., and Skuce P. J. (2010) "Climate change and infectious disease: Helminthological challenges to farmed ruminants in temperate regions." *Animal* 4:377.
- van Dyne, G. M., and Heady H. F. (1965) "Dietary chemical composition of cattle and sheep grazing in common on a dry annual range." *Journal of Range Management* 18:78–85.
- Webb, L. B., Whetton P. H., and Barlow E. W. R. (2011) "Observed trends in winegrape maturity in Australia." *Global Change Biology*17: 2707–2719.

- White, M. A., Diffenbaugh N. S., Jones G. V., Pal J. S., and Giorgi F. (2006) "Extreme heat reduces and shifts United States premium wine production in the 21st century." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103:11217–22.
- Willocquet, L., Berud F., Raoux L., and Clerjeau M. (1998) "Effects of wind, relative humidity, leaf movement and colony age on dispersal of conidia of Uncinula necator, causal agent of grape powdery mildew." *Plant Pathology* 47:234–242.
- Wolfe D. W., Ziska L., Petzoldt C., Seaman A., Chase L., and Hayhoe K. (2008) "Projected change in climate thresholds in the Northeastern U.S.: Implications for crops, pests, livestock, and farmers." *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 13:555–575.
- Young, J. A., and Evans R. A. (1989) Seed production and germination dynamics in California annual grasslands. In: Huenneke L.F., Mooney H. (eds) Grassland Structure and Function: California Annual Grassland. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands, 39– 45.
- Zavaleta, E. S., Shaw M. R., Chiariello N. R., Thomas B. D., Cleland E. E., Field C. B., and Mooney H. A. (2003a) "Grassland responses to three years of elevated temperature, CO<sub>2</sub>, precipitation, and N deposition." *Ecological Monographs* 73:585–604.
- Zavaleta, E. S., Thomas B. D., Chiariello N. R., Asner G. P., Shaw M. R., and Field C. B. (2003b) "Plants reverse warming effect on ecosystem water balance." *Proceedings National Academy* of Sciences 100:9892–9893.

## Glossary

ADD	Accumulated degree-days
BCCA	Bias Corrected Constructed Analogues
°C	centigrade
CIMIS	California Irrigation Management Information System
CNRM	Centre National Recherche Météorologique
CO <sub>2</sub>	carbon dioxide
СР	crude protein
DOM	digestible organic matter
°F	Fahrenheit
GDD	growing degree-days
GFDL	Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory
ha	hectare
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
MBG	Malpai Borderlands Group
mm	millimeters
NASS	National Agricultural Statistics Service
NCAR	National Center for Atmospheric Research
P6	precipitation in June
P-9	September of the previous harvest year
PIER	Public Interest Energy Research
ppm	parts per million
RD&D	research, development, and demonstration
RDM	residual dry matter
Т	maximum temperature
t	minimum temperature
Tn,4	minimum temperature in April
USGS	U.S. Department of Interior, Geological Survey

## Appendix A.

Table A-1. Percent change in peak forage production for 30-year periods (early/historical, mid/historical, and late/historical) in the higher emissions A2 scenario. Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means.

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
EARLY (2005-2034, compared to 1961-1990)								
Alameda	19.9	NCARCCSM3	4.7	GFDLCM21	13.8	3.5	10.3	17.3
Contra Costa	15.3	CNRMCM3	11.5	GFDLCM21	13.4	0.8	12.6	14.2
Marin	17.2	NCARCCSM3	5.7	CNRMCM3	10.3	2.7	7.6	13.0
Napa	14.6	NCARCCSM3	7.6	GFDLCM21	10.6	1.5	9.0	12.1
Santa Clara	19.1	NCARPCM1	3.2	GFDLCM21	12.5	3.3	9.1	15.8
San Mateo	16.7	NCARCCSM3	7.6	GFDLCM21	12.2	1.9	10.3	14.1
Solano	13.9	CNRMCM3	10.2	GFDLCM21	11.9	0.8	11.1	12.6
Sonoma	12.2	NCARCCSM3	8.4	GFDLCM21	10.6	0.8	9.8	11.4
MID (2035-2064,	compared	d to 1961-1990)						
Alameda	25.5	NCARCCSM3	0.0	CNRMCM3	14.4	6.4	8.0	20.7
Contra Costa	22.6	NCARPCM1	-0.6	CNRMCM4	13.8	5.4	8.4	19.1
Marin	22.3	NCARCCSM3	0.5	CNRMCM5	12.2	5.0	7.2	17.3
Napa	23.4	NCARCCSM4	-0.2	CNRMCM6	13.2	5.5	7.8	18.7
Santa Clara	23.6	NCARCCSM5	0.5	CNRMCM7	14.0	5.7	8.4	19.7
San Mateo	23.8	NCARCCSM6	1.8	CNRMCM8	14.0	5.0	9.0	19.0
Solano	24.2	NCARCCSM7	-0.3	CNRMCM9	13.5	5.5	8.0	19.0
Sonoma	20.1	NCARCCSM8	0.4	CNRMCM10	12.2	4.5	7.7	16.7
LATE (2070-2099,	compare	d to 1961-1990)						
Alameda	33.5	NCARCCSM3	21.5	GFDLCM21	27.3	2.5	24.8	29.8
Contra Costa	27.8	NCARPCM1	23.1	CNRMCM3	25.3	1.2	24.1	26.6
Marin	37.7	NCARCCSM3	18.6	CNRMCM3	29.0	4.0	25.0	32.9
Napa	34.5	NCARCCSM3	27.4	CNRMCM3	31.3	1.5	29.8	32.8
Santa Clara	31.6	NCARPCM1	18.3	GFDLCM21	25.4	2.8	22.6	28.2
San Mateo	36.3	NCARCCSM3	24.1	GFDLCM21	28.6	2.7	25.9	31.3
Solano	30.4	NCARCCSM3	26.2	CNRMCM3	27.5	1.0	26.6	28.5
Sonoma	31.0	GFDLCM21	25.4	CNRMCM3	28.2	1.2	27.0	29.3

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
EARLY (2005-203	4, compar	ed to 1961-1990)						
Alameda	25.5	NCARCCSM3	-8.6	GFDLCM21	11.5	7.4	4.1	18.9
Contra Costa	19.3	NCARCCSM3	-7.2	GFDLCM21	9.7	6.0	3.7	15.7
Marin	28.7	NCARCCSM3	-4.8	GFDLCM21	10.8	7.0	3.8	17.9
Napa	23.1	NCARCCSM3	-3.2	GFDLCM21	10.2	5.4	4.8	15.5
Santa Clara	28.0	NCARCCSM3	-7.7	GFDLCM21	12.6	7.6	5.0	20.2
San Mateo	25.3	NCARCCSM3	-3.5	GFDLCM21	11.6	6.0	5.6	17.5
Solano	18.8	NCARCCSM3	-6.7	GFDLCM21	9.2	5.8	3.4	15.0
Sonoma	18.2	NCARCCSM3	-2.7	GFDLCM21	9.3	4.4	4.9	13.7
MID (2035-2064,	compared	l to 1961-1990)						
Alameda	34.3	NCARCCSM3	7.2	GFDLCM21	18.6		12.9	24.3
Contra Costa	28.6	NCARCCSM3	11.5	GFDLCM21	17.9	3.7	14.2	21.6
Marin	34.5	NCARCCSM3	9.2	GFDLCM21	18.1	5.6	12.5	23.8
Napa	33.5	NCARCCSM3	11.5	GFDLCM21	19.3	4.9	14.3	24.2
Santa Clara	36.5	NCARCCSM3	5.5	GFDLCM21	18.0	6.7	11.3	24.7
San Mateo	32.4	NCARCCSM3	8.2	GFDLCM21	17.4	5.2	12.2	22.7
Solano	30.1	NCARCCSM3	10.8	GFDLCM21	17.6	4.3	13.3	21.9
Sonoma	23.7	NCARCCSM3	11.4	GFDLCM21	16.0	2.7	13.3	18.7
LATE (2070-2099)	, compare	d to 1961-1990)						
Alameda	48.4	NCARCCSM3	6.0	CNRMCM3	23.5	9.8	13.7	33.3
Contra Costa	39.2	NCARCCSM3	11.0	CNRMCM3	22.7	6.4	16.4	29.1
Marin	41.9	NCARCCSM3	3.8	CNRMCM3	22.1	8.3	13.9	30.4
Napa	39.7	NCARCCSM3	8.0	CNRMCM3	23.2	6.9	16.3	30.1
Santa Clara	46.1	NCARCCSM3	5.7	CNRMCM3	23.1	8.8	14.4	31.9
San Mateo	43.0	NCARCCSM3	7.9	CNRMCM3	23.3	7.8	15.5	31.1
Solano	31.9	NCARCCSM3	10.9	CNRMCM3	20.2	5.0	15.2	25.2
Sonoma	32.9	NCARCCSM3	5.5	CNRMCM3	19.7	6.0	13.8	25.7

## Table A-2. Percent change in peak forage production, as in Table A-1, for the lower<br/>emissions B1 scenario.

## Appendix B.

Table B-1. Maximum drought occurrence over a 30-year period in any of the 12x12 km grid cells within each county, for the higher emissions A2 scenario. Drought here is defined in the extreme sense of a season in which germination never occurs (1-week precipitation never exceeds 25 mm). Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence intervals around the mean of the maximum drought occurrence for all four models. For clarity, "max" is the model producing the highest maximum drought occurrence and "min" is the model producing the lowest maximum drought occurrence.

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
HISTORICAL (1961	-1990)							
Alameda	4	CNRMCM3	0	NCARPCM1	2	0.913	1.087	2.913
Contra Costa	2	CNRMCM3	0	NCARPCM1	1.25	0.479	0.771	1.729
Marin	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Napa	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Santa Clara	2	CNRMCM3	1	GFDLCM21	1.25	0.250	1.000	1.500
San Mateo	2	CNRMCM3	0	GFDLCM21	0.5	0.500	0.000	1.000
Solano	1	NCARCCSM3	0	CNRMCM3	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500
Sonoma	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
EARLY (2005-2034)	)							
Alameda	2	GFDLCM21	0	CNRMCM3	1	0.408	0.592	1.408
Contra Costa	1	GFDLCM21	0	CNRMCM3	0.5	0.289	0.211	0.789
Marin	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Napa	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Santa Clara	4	NCARCCSM3	0	CNRMCM3	1.25	0.946	0.304	2.196
San Mateo	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Solano	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Sonoma	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
MID (2035-2064)								
Alameda	3	GFDLCM21	0	CNRMCM3	1	0.707	0.293	1.707
Contra Costa	1	NCARCCSM3	0	CNRMCM3	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500
Marin	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Napa	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Santa Clara	3	CNRMCM3	0	NCARCCSM3	1	0.707	0.293	1.707
San Mateo	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Solano	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Sonoma	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
LATE (2070-2099)								
Alameda	3	CNRMCM3	1	NCARCCSM3	2	0.577	1.423	2.577
Contra Costa	3	CNRMCM3	1	GFDLCM21	1.75	0.479	1.271	2.229
Marin	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Napa	1	GFDLCM21	0	CNRMCM3	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500
Santa Clara	4	CNRMCM3	1	NCARCCSM3	2.25	0.629	1.621	2.879
San Mateo	1	GFDLCM21	0	CNRMCM3	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500
Solano	2	GFDLCM21	0	NCARPCM1	1	0.408	0.592	1.408
Sonoma	1	GFDLCM21	0	CNRMCM3	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
HISTORICAL (196	1-1990)							
Alameda	4	CNRMCM3	0	NCARPCM1	2	0.913	1.087	2.913
Contra Costa	2	CNRMCM3	0	NCARPCM1	1.25	0.479	0.771	1.729
Marin	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Napa	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Santa Clara	2	CNRMCM3	1	GFDLCM21	1.25	0.250	1.000	1.500
San Mateo	2	CNRMCM3	0	GFDLCM21	0.5	0.500	0.000	1.000
Solano	1	NCARCCSM3	0	CNRMCM3	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500
Sonoma	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
EARLY (2005-203	4)							
Alameda	2	GFDLCM21	0	CNRMCM3	1	0.577	0.423	1.577
Contra Costa	1	NCARPCM1	0	CNRMCM3	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500
Marin	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Napa	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Santa Clara	2	GFDLCM21	1	CNRMCM3	1.5	0.289	1.211	1.789
San Mateo	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Solano	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Sonoma	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
MID (2035-2064)								
Alameda	4	NCARCCSM3	1	CNRMCM3	2.25	0.750	1.500	3.000
Contra Costa	2	NCARCCSM3	0	CNRMCM3	0.5	0.500	0.000	1.000
Marin	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Napa	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Santa Clara	4	NCARCCSM3	1	GFDLCM21	2.75	0.750	2.000	3.500
San Mateo	1	CNRMCM3	0	GFDLCM21	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500
Solano	1	CNRMCM3	0	GFDLCM21	0.25	0.250	0.000	0.500
Sonoma	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
LATE (2070-2099)								
Alameda	4	GFDLCM21	1	CNRMCM3	2	0.707	1.293	2.707
Contra Costa	2	GFDLCM21	1	CNRMCM3	1.25	0.250	1.000	1.500
Marin	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Napa	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Santa Clara	3	CNRMCM3	1	NCARCCSM3	2.25	0.479	1.771	2.729
San Mateo	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000
Solano	2	NCARCCSM3	0	CNRMCM3	0.75	0.479	0.271	1.229
Sonoma	0		0		0	0.000	0.000	0.000

 Table B-2. Maximum drought occurrence, as in Table B-1, for the lower emissions B1 scenario.

### Appendix C.

Table C-1. Mean length of forage season (days) for 30-year periods in the higher emissions A2 scenario. Season start date is based on germinating rain (first week in which precipitation > 25mm), and season end date is based on a simple water balance model (when cumulative evapotranspiration > cumulative precipitation over a 60 day period). Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means.

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
HISTORICAL (196	51-1990)							
Alameda	156.185	GFDLCM21	138.556	CNRMCM3	146.451	3.826	142.625	150.277
Contra Costa	161.814	GFDLCM21	151.890	CNRMCM3	156.054	2.146	153.907	158.200
Marin	176.607	GFDLCM21	167.730	NCARCCSM3	171.608	2.194	169.414	173.802
Napa	177.329	GFDLCM21	169.110	CNRMCM3	171.243	2.030	169.213	173.273
Santa Clara	166.429	GFDLCM21	145.856	CNRMCM3	154.358	4.379	149.978	158.737
San Mateo	175.679	GFDLCM21	166.517	CNRMCM3	169.396	2.113	167.283	171.509
Solano	161.133	GFDLCM21	152.113	CNRMCM3	156.994	1.894	155.099	158.888
Sonoma	189.828	GFDLCM21	180.710	NCARPCM1	185.351	1.864	183.487	187.216
EARLY (2005-203	34)							
Alameda	155.552	NCARPCM1	141.293	CNRMCM3	149.531	3.185	146.346	152.715
Contra Costa	161.919	NCARPCM1	151.857	CNRMCM3	157.763	2.414	155.349	160.176
Marin	172.860	NCARPCM1	162.000	CNRMCM3	169.605	2.560	167.045	172.165
Napa	171.683	GFDLCM21	161.864	CNRMCM3	168.898	2.358	166.539	171.256
Santa Clara	162.265	NCARPCM1	146.950	CNRMCM3	154.567	3.141	151.425	157.708
San Mateo	174.229	NCARPCM1	160.767	CNRMCM3	168.933	2.890	166.044	171.823
Solano	160.154	GFDLCM21	150.333	CNRMCM3	156.472	2.320	154.152	158.792
Sonoma	185.712	GFDLCM21	180.529	CNRMCM3	183.865	1.144	182.721	185.008
MID (2035-2064)								
Alameda	153.626	NCARPCM1	125.022	CNRMCM3	139.348	5.865	133.483	145.213
Contra Costa	162.364	NCARPCM1	129.814	CNRMCM3	148.168	6.786	141.383	154.954
Marin	171.973	NCARPCM1	152.417	CNRMCM3	162.045	3.998	158.047	166.043
Napa	174.014	NCARPCM1	147.529	CNRMCM3	162.133	5.473	156.660	167.606
Santa Clara	157.229	NCARPCM1	125.055	CNRMCM3	145.103	6.954	138.149	152.057
San Mateo	171.692	NCARPCM1	145.900	CNRMCM3	160.686	5.377	155.310	166.063
Solano	161.633	NCARPCM1	129.946	CNRMCM3	148.458	6.661	141.798	155.119
Sonoma	184.332	NCARPCM1	162.650	CNRMCM3	175.448	4.592	170.856	180.041
LATE (2070-2099	)							
Alameda	140.248	NCARPCM1	118.004	CNRMCM3	130.059	4.744	125.315	134.804
Contra Costa	150.186	NCARPCM1	127.640	CNRMCM3	138.386	4.700	133.686	143.085
Marin	165.490	NCARPCM1	143.080	CNRMCM3	157.702	5.226	152.476	162.928
Napa	166.212	NCARPCM1	145.450	CNRMCM3	157.389	4.671	152.718	162.060
Santa Clara	147.648	NCARPCM1	119.430	CNRMCM3	132.670	5.785	126.885	138.456
San Mateo	162.350	NCARPCM1	141.496	CNRMCM3	152.230	4.313	147.918	156.543
Solano	152.900	NCARPCM1	133.200	CNRMCM3	141.860	4.114	137.747	145.974
Sonoma	177.037	NCARPCM1	157.878	CNRMCM3	169.116	4.711	164.404	173.827

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
HISTORICAL (196	51-1990)							
Alameda	156.015	GFDLCM21	138.552	CNRMCM3	146.388	3.784	142.603	150.172
Contra Costa	161.517	GFDLCM21	151.821	CNRMCM3	155.911	2.087	153.823	157.998
Marin	176.600	GFDLCM21	167.727	NCARCCSM3	171.576	2.187	169.389	173.763
Napa	176.950	GFDLCM21	169.088	CNRMCM3	171.189	1.922	169.267	173.112
Santa Clara	166.370	GFDLCM21	145.865	CNRMCM3	154.311	4.365	149.946	158.677
San Mateo	175.496	GFDLCM21	166.508	CNRMCM3	169.535	2.026	167.510	171.561
Solano	161.133	GFDLCM21	152.100	CNRMCM3	156.952	1.903	155.049	158.855
Sonoma	189.943	GFDLCM21	180.613	NCARPCM1	185.344	1.907	183.437	187.251
EARLY (2005-203	34)							
Alameda	153.204	NCARCCSM3	137.304	GFDLCM21	146.611	3.345	143.266	149.957
Contra Costa	158.288	NCARCCSM3	144.245	GFDLCM21	153.674	3.292	150.383	156.966
Marin	181.623	NCARCCSM3	160.510	GFDLCM21	169.991	5.282	164.709	175.273
Napa	174.571	NCARCCSM3	161.495	CNRMCM3	168.074	3.430	164.644	171.505
Santa Clara	162.536	NCARCCSM3	146.224	GFDLCM21	153.108	3.925	149.183	157.034
San Mateo	176.579	NCARCCSM3	159.233	GFDLCM21	167.976	3.951	164.025	171.927
Solano	157.967	NCARCCSM3	144.275	GFDLCM21	153.242	3.209	150.032	156.451
Sonoma	188.864	NCARPCM1	175.277	GFDLCM21	181.763	3.718	178.045	185.481
MID (2035-2064)	)							
Alameda	149.644	NCARPCM1	137.759	CNRMCM3	142.854	2.776	140.078	145.630
Contra Costa	161.700	NCARPCM1	146.560	CNRMCM3	153.521	3.312	150.209	156.833
Marin	178.870	NCARCCSM3	162.693	CNRMCM3	170.142	4.115	166.026	174.257
Napa	176.979	NCARCCSM3	159.495	CNRMCM3	169.355	4.349	165.006	173.704
Santa Clara	161.821	NCARCCSM3	141.508	CNRMCM3	150.225	4.563	145.662	154.788
San Mateo	176.025	NCARCCSM3	157.071	CNRMCM3	166.195	4.870	161.324	171.065
Solano	162.042	NCARCCSM3	143.142	CNRMCM3	154.416	4.611	149.805	159.027
Sonoma	185.858	NCARCCSM3	176.343	CNRMCM3	181.190	2.380	178.810	183.570
LATE (2070-2099	))							
Alameda	160.478	NCARCCSM3	126.159	CNRMCM3	144.043	7.314	136.728	151.357
Contra Costa	165.443	NCARCCSM3	139.095	CNRMCM3	153.943	5.870	148.074	159.813
Marin	180.417	NCARCCSM3	150.520	CNRMCM3	168.481	6.681	161.800	175.162
Napa	177.443	NCARCCSM3	150.455	CNRMCM3	167.475	6.070	161.405	173.545
Santa Clara	166.398	NCARCCSM3	122.512	CNRMCM3	146.908	9.070	137.838	155.978
San Mateo	181.663	NCARCCSM3	147.121	CNRMCM3	167.029	7.717	159.312	174.746
Solano	163.175	NCARPCM1	140.167	CNRMCM3	152.250	4.920	147.330	157.170
Sonoma	189.739	NCARCCSM3	162.104	CNRMCM3	179.321	6.137	173.184	185.458

Table C-2. Length of forage season, as in Table C-2, for the lower emissions B1 scenario

## Appendix D.

Table D-1. Percent change in wine yields over 30-year periods for the A2 scenario. Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means.

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
EARLY (2005-20	34, comp	ared to 1961-19	990)					
Alameda	23.8	GFDLCM21	15.5	NCARPCM1	20.8	1.8	19.0	22.6
Contra Costa	0.3	NCARPCM1	-4.9	GFDLCM21	-3.0	1.2	-4.2	-1.9
Napa	23.6	CNRMCM3	11.4	NCARPCM1	18.0	2.5	15.5	20.5
Santa Clara	8.2	NCARCCSM3	5.5	GFDLCM21	7.1	0.6	6.5	7.8
Solano	2.2	NCARPCM1	-1.2	GFDLCM21	0.6	0.7	-0.1	1.3
Sonoma	34.0	CNRMCM3	14.8	NCARPCM1	23.6	4.1	19.5	27.7
MID (2035-2064	, compar	ed to 1961-199	0)					
Alameda	37.0	GFDLCM21	29.5	NCARPCM1	33.2	1.6	31.6	34.7
Contra Costa	-2.3	NCARPCM1	-12.3	GFDLCM21	-9.1	2.3	-11.5	-6.8
Napa	37.7	CNRMCM3	25.4	NCARPCM1	32.2	2.6	29.6	34.9
Santa Clara	13.2	NCARCCSM3	7.8	CNRMCM3	10.9	1.2	9.8	12.1
Solano	3.0	NCARPCM1	-4.1	GFDLCM21	-1.1	1.5	-2.6	0.4
Sonoma	57.1	CNRMCM3	34.6	NCARPCM1	48.1	4.9	43.2	53.0
LATE (2070-209	9, compa	red to 1961-199	0)					
Alameda	46.2	GFDLCM21	31.4	CNRMCM3	39.2	3.9	35.3	43.2
Contra Costa	-9.3	NCARPCM1	-53.1	CNRMCM3	-35.3	9.3	-44.6	-26.1
Napa	37.1	GFDLCM21	26.5	NCARCCSM3	32.8	2.3	30.5	35.1
Santa Clara	14.4	NCARPCM1	-12.2	CNRMCM3	-0.3	5.5	-5.8	5.2
Solano	-2.5	NCARPCM1	-35.3	CNRMCM3	-22.1	7.0	-29.1	-15.1
Sonoma	63.1	GFDLCM21	46.2	NCARCCSM3	55.1	4.4	50.7	59.4

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
EARLY (2005-20	34, comp	ared to 1961-19	990)					
Alameda	23.8	NCARCCSM3	11.9	NCARPCM1	20.0	2.7	17.3	22.7
Contra Costa	0.5	NCARPCM1	-9.1	CNRMCM3	-4.5	2.0	-6.5	-2.5
Napa	27.2	CNRMCM3	4.6	NCARPCM1	18.7	5.1	13.5	23.8
Santa Clara	10.9	NCARCCSM3	5.3	NCARPCM1	7.5	1.2	6.3	8.7
Solano	1.3	NCARPCM1	-2.4	CNRMCM3	-0.6	0.8	-1.4	0.1
Sonoma	42.9	NCARCCSM3	8.2	NCARPCM1	29.2	8.4	20.8	37.6
MID (2035-2064	, compar	ed to 1961-199	0)					
Alameda	40.3	GFDLCM21	26.1	NCARPCM1	33.7	3.0	30.8	36.7
Contra Costa	-0.3	NCARPCM1	-12.3	GFDLCM21	-7.1	2.6	-9.7	-4.5
Napa	41.9	NCARCCSM3	25.4	NCARPCM1	33.1	3.4	29.7	36.5
Santa Clara	14.9	NCARCCSM3	8.9	CNRMCM3	10.8	1.4	9.4	12.2
Solano	3.4	NCARPCM1	-4.9	GFDLCM21	-0.3	1.9	-2.3	1.6
Sonoma	54.7	NCARCCSM3	36.2	NCARPCM1	46.6	4.1	42.5	50.8
LATE (2070-209	9, compa	red to 1961-199	0)					
Alameda	45.3	GFDLCM21	40.7	CNRMCM3	42.9	1.1	41.8	44.0
Contra Costa	0.9	NCARCCSM3	-15.9	CNRMCM3	-7.9	4.5	-12.4	-3.4
Napa	42.3	NCARCCSM3	31.6	GFDLCM21	37.3	2.5	34.9	39.8
Santa Clara	21.5	NCARCCSM3	8.3	CNRMCM3	13.8	3.1	10.6	16.9
Solano	8.8	NCARCCSM3	-8.0	GFDLCM21	0.5	4.3	-3.8	4.8
Sonoma	64.0	CNRMCM3	48.6	GFDLCM21	54.4	3.5	50.9	57.9

Table D-2. Percent change in wine yields, as in Table D-1, for the B1 scenario.

## Appendix E.

Table E-1. Change in date of wine ripening (days earlier) for the A2 scenario. Date of ripening is set by accumulation of 1150 degree days after April 1. Max, min and mean are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means.

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
EARLY (2005-203	34, compa	red to 1961-19	<del>9</del> 90)					
Alameda	13.250	GFDLCM21	4.750	NCARPCM1	9.688	1.838	7.849	11.526
Contra Costa	9.400	GFDLCM21	3.200	NCARPCM1	6.850	1.367	5.483	8.217
Napa	11.333	GFDLCM21	4.222	NCARPCM1	8.667	1.605	7.062	10.272
Santa Clara	13.600	GFDLCM21	5.000	NCARPCM1	10.250	1.952	8.298	12.202
Solano	8.727	GFDLCM21	3.273	NCARPCM1	6.614	1.201	5.413	7.815
Sonoma	10.700	GFDLCM21	3.900	NCARPCM1	8.250	1.571	6.679	9.821
MID (2035-2064	, compare	d to 1961-199	0)					
Alameda	19.000	CNRMCM3	11.750	NCARPCM1	16.500	1.711	14.789	18.211
Contra Costa	14.600	CNRMCM3	8.600	NCARPCM1	12.400	1.428	10.972	13.828
Napa	17.778	CNRMCM3	10.778	NCARPCM1	15.111	1.627	13.484	16.738
Santa Clara	20.600	CNRMCM3	12.200	NCARPCM1	17.400	1.924	15.476	19.324
Solano	13.909	CNRMCM3	8.364	NCARPCM1	11.955	1.287	10.668	13.242
Sonoma	17.400	CNRMCM3	10.200	NCARPCM1	14.800	1.653	13.147	16.453
LATE (2070-2099	ə, compare	d to 1961-199	90)					
Alameda	36.000	CNRMCM3	19.500	NCARPCM1	28.500	3.410	25.090	31.910
Contra Costa	29.200	CNRMCM3	14.600	NCARPCM1	22.550	3.021	19.529	25.571
Napa	34.111	CNRMCM3	18.222	NCARPCM1	26.944	3.302	23.642	30.247
Santa Clara	37.800	CNRMCM3	20.000	NCARPCM1	29.950	3.716	26.234	33.666
Solano	28.182	CNRMCM3	14.364	NCARPCM1	22.136	2.873	19.263	25.009
Sonoma	35.000	CNRMCM3	18.100	NCARPCM1	27.450	3.502	23.948	30.952

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
EARLY (2005-203	4, compare	ed to 1961-19	90)					
Alameda	14.500	CNRMCM3	4.500	NCARPCM1	10.438	2.214	8.224	12.651
Contra Costa	11.000	CNRMCM3	3.400	NCARPCM1	7.650	1.636	6.014	9.286
Napa	13.333	CNRMCM3	3.889	NCARPCM1	9.306	2.043	7.263	11.348
Santa Clara	15.400	CNRMCM3	4.800	NCARPCM1	10.950	2.291	8.659	13.241
Solano	10.273	CNRMCM3	3.091	NCARPCM1	7.273	1.538	5.735	8.811
Sonoma	12.900	CNRMCM3	3.700	NCARPCM1	8.800	1.952	6.848	10.752
MID (2035-2064,	compared	to 1961-1990	)					
Alameda	18.000	CNRMCM3	7.250	NCARPCM1	13.875	2.337	11.538	16.212
Contra Costa	13.400	CNRMCM3	5.000	NCARPCM1	10.200	1.838	8.362	12.038
Napa	16.667	CNRMCM3	6.778	NCARPCM1	12.667	2.118	10.548	14.785
Santa Clara	19.200	CNRMCM3	7.800	NCARPCM1	14.850	2.502	12.348	17.352
Solano	12.818	CNRMCM3	5.000	NCARPCM1	9.932	1.707	8.225	11.638
Sonoma	16.600	CNRMCM3	6.300	NCARPCM1	12.425	2.195	10.230	14.620
LATE (2070-2099)	, compared	l to 1961-1990	D)					
Alameda	23.250	CNRMCM3	11.750	NCARPCM1	17.625	2.561	15.064	20.186
Contra Costa	18.200	CNRMCM3	9.000	NCARPCM1	13.400	2.051	11.349	15.451
Napa	21.444	CNRMCM3	11.333	NCARPCM1	16.278	2.246	14.031	18.524
Santa Clara	24.600	CNRMCM3	12.800	NCARPCM1	18.600	2.586	16.014	21.186
Solano	17.273	CNRMCM3	8.727	NCARPCM1	12.977	1.861	11.116	14.839
Sonoma	21.100	CNRMCM3	11.000	NCARPCM1	15.950	2.258	13.692	18.208

Table E-2. Change in date of wine ripening, as in Table E-1, for the B1 scenario

## Appendix F.

Table F-1. Average temperature during the month of wine ripening, which dictates wine grape quality, for the A2 scenario. Conditions for producing high quality wines are considered optimal when in the range of 15°C–22°C, marginal in the range of 22°C–24°C, and impaired above 24°C. Max, min and mean values are presented for four climate models, with 95% confidence interval around the means.

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
HISTORICAL (1961	L-1990)							
Alameda	20.105	NCARPCM1	19.826	GFDLCM21	19.963	0.076	19.887	20.040
Contra Costa	23.282	NCARPCM1	22.915	CNRMCM3	23.073	0.076	22.997	23.149
Napa	20.200	NCARPCM1	19.837	GFDLCM21	20.000	0.082	19.918	20.082
Santa Clara	20.188	NCARPCM1	19.899	GFDLCM21	20.039	0.063	19.976	20.102
Solano	22.899	NCARPCM1	22.599	CNRMCM3	22.703	0.067	22.636	22.770
Sonoma	19.194	NCARCCSM3	18.890	GFDLCM21	19.058	0.075	18.983	19.133
EARLY (2005-2034	L)							
Alameda	22.481	CNRMCM3	20.980	NCARPCM1	21.777	0.315	21.461	22.092
Contra Costa	25.540	CNRMCM3	24.100	NCARPCM1	24.777	0.296	24.480	25.073
Napa	22.369	CNRMCM3	21.057	NCARPCM1	21.739	0.275	21.464	22.014
Santa Clara	22.364	CNRMCM3	20.956	NCARPCM1	21.691	0.298	21.393	21.989
Solano	25.150	CNRMCM3	23.720	NCARPCM1	24.378	0.294	24.083	24.672
Sonoma	21.069	CNRMCM3	19.944	NCARPCM1	20.517	0.249	20.269	20.766
MID (2035-2064)								
Alameda	24.027	CNRMCM3	21.898	NCARPCM1	22.967	0.449	22.519	23.416
Contra Costa	26.948	CNRMCM3	24.998	NCARPCM1	25.917	0.400	25.517	26.317
Napa	23.870	CNRMCM3	21.880	NCARPCM1	22.856	0.413	22.442	23.269
Santa Clara	23.745	CNRMCM3	21.850	NCARPCM1	22.774	0.402	22.372	23.176
Solano	26.561	CNRMCM3	24.543	NCARPCM1	25.488	0.415	25.073	25.903
Sonoma	22.493	CNRMCM3	20.751	NCARPCM1	21.564	0.381	21.184	21.945
LATE (2070-2099)								
Alameda	27.801	CNRMCM3	23.419	NCARPCM1	25.266	0.916	24.350	26.182
Contra Costa	29.686	CNRMCM3	26.871	NCARPCM1	28.039	0.592	27.447	28.630
Napa	27.683	CNRMCM3	23.384	NCARPCM1	25.135	0.907	24.227	26.042
Santa Clara	27.364	CNRMCM3	23.225	NCARPCM1	24.888	0.877	24.012	25.765
Solano	29.291	CNRMCM3	26.289	NCARPCM1	27.586	0.624	26.962	28.209
Sonoma	26.625	CNRMCM3	22.105	NCARPCM1	23.809	0.977	22.832	24.786

	Max	Model	Min	Model	Mean	Error	CI -	CI +
HISTORICAL (1961	-1990)							
Alameda	20.105	NCARPCM1	19.826	GFDLCM21	19.963	0.076	19.887	20.040
Contra Costa	23.282	NCARPCM1	22.915	CNRMCM3	23.073	0.076	22.997	23.149
Napa	20.200	NCARPCM1	19.837	GFDLCM21	20.000	0.082	19.918	20.082
Santa Clara	20.188	NCARPCM1	19.899	GFDLCM21	20.039	0.063	19.976	20.102
Solano	22.899	NCARPCM1	22.599	CNRMCM3	22.703	0.067	22.636	22.770
Sonoma	19.194	NCARCCSM3	18.890	GFDLCM21	19.058	0.075	18.983	19.133
EARLY (2005-2034)	)							
Alameda	22.914	CNRMCM3	20.826	NCARPCM1	21.773	0.455	21.318	22.228
Contra Costa	25.746	CNRMCM3	23.841	NCARPCM1	24.698	0.398	24.300	25.096
Napa	22.788	CNRMCM3	20.781	NCARPCM1	21.706	0.435	21.271	22.141
Santa Clara	22.640	CNRMCM3	20.822	NCARPCM1	21.670	0.397	21.274	22.067
Solano	25.389	CNRMCM3	23.400	NCARPCM1	24.297	0.416	23.880	24.713
Sonoma	21.447	CNRMCM3	19.811	NCARPCM1	20.525	0.377	20.148	20.902
MID (2035-2064)								
Alameda	24.076	CNRMCM3	21.411	NCARPCM1	22.769	0.549	22.220	23.319
Contra Costa	26.944	CNRMCM3	24.466	NCARPCM1	25.622	0.510	25.112	26.132
Napa	23.857	CNRMCM3	21.407	NCARPCM1	22.631	0.504	22.127	23.134
Santa Clara	23.683	CNRMCM3	21.384	NCARPCM1	22.544	0.474	22.070	23.018
Solano	26.533	CNRMCM3	24.005	NCARPCM1	25.204	0.519	24.685	25.723
Sonoma	22.451	CNRMCM3	20.288	NCARPCM1	21.345	0.443	20.901	21.788
LATE (2070-2099)								
Alameda	24.850	CNRMCM3	22.269	NCARPCM1	23.472	0.530	22.942	24.003
Contra Costa	27.656	CNRMCM3	25.121	NCARPCM1	26.198	0.530	25.668	26.728
Napa	24.580	CNRMCM3	22.232	NCARPCM1	23.332	0.484	22.848	23.817
Santa Clara	24.406	CNRMCM3	22.062	NCARPCM1	23.129	0.483	22.647	23.612
Solano	27.193	CNRMCM3	24.708	NCARPCM1	25.804	0.515	25.289	26.319
Sonoma	23.208	CNRMCM3	21.010	NCARPCM1	21.971	0.457	21.514	22.429

Table F-2. Average temperature during wine ripening, as an indicator of wine quality as defined inTable F-1, for the lower emissions B1 scenario